THE EFFECT OF BINGE EATING ON OREXIGENIC NEURONS OF THE LATERAL HYPOTHALAMUS

By

Todd McLean Rowe

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Medicine

Faculty of Medicine Memorial University of Newfoundland May 2017

Abstract

Binge eating is a form of disordered eating involving excessive caloric intake in a brief period of time, typically from palatable, calorie-dense foods. The underlying neural mechanisms controlling this behavior are poorly understood, but likely involve both homeostatic and hedonic feeding circuitry. The lateral hypothalamus contains orexin and melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) neurons, both of which are orexigenic neurons that also play roles in stress, reward and motivation. It is possible that activation of these neurons is responsible for the development or maintenance of binge eating behavior. To test this, we established an animal model of binge eating by providing rats with three schedules of intermittent access to a palatable, high fat diet (HFD): 6 daily exposures (1wDaily), 6 exposures over 2 weeks on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays (2wMWF), and 18 exposures over 6 weeks (6wMWF). Rats eagerly consumed the diets upon presentation following repeated exposures, consuming up to a quarter of their daily calories in a one-hour food exposure, indicative of binge-like behavior. Following 1wDaily or 2wMWF feeding, there was no apparent effect of HFD on orexin neurons, but after 6wMWF feeding, orexin neurons were significantly hyperpolarized in the HFD group compared to those in controls. However, we did not observe any changes in MCH neurons. This suggests that longterm, but not short-term intermittent access to a palatable diet high in fat induces changes in orexin neurons. In conclusion, our results suggest that orexin neurons are unexpectedly inhibited by prolonged exposure to feeding patterns that induce binge eating. This may be a homeostatic response to repeated binge eating.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to give my greatest gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Michiru Hirasawa. My journey through graduate school had been fraught with difficulties and setbacks, and without Dr. Hirasawa's continued support and belief in me none of this would have been possible. Furthermore, her outstanding skills as a scientist and critical writer have guided me and allowed me to develop my own skills greater than I could have imagined.

I would also like to thank the members of my supervisory committee, Dr. John McLean and Dr. Qi Yuan, for their assistance throughout the course of my program and for reviewing this thesis for submission.

I extend deep gratitude to all of the members of the lab that have assisted me in completing this project, most of all fellow graduate student Victoria Linehan. Her support, guidance, and continued concern for all matters inside the lab and out have seen me throughout a great deal of self-doubt and uncertainty.

I would like to thank the Nunatsiavut Government's Post Secondary Student Support Program for providing me with the funding for my tuition for both my undergraduate work and throughout my master's program.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and closest friends for constantly supporting me and believing in me over the past few years. It has been a hard road and I would not have been able to get this far without all of them.

iii

Table of Contents

Abst	ract	ii
Acknowledgements		
Tabl	iv	
List	viii	
List	xi	
Chaj	pter 1: Introduction	1
1.1	Binge eating	1
	1.1.1 Human studies	
	1.1.2 Animal studies	
1.2	Central control of feeding behavior	7
	1.2.1 Overview	
	1.2.2 Hypothalamic control of food intake	
	1.2.3 Neurobiology of binge eating	
1.3	Orexin and MCH	14
	1.3.1 Orexin	
	1.3.2 MCH	

1.4	Ratior	ale and objectives	21
Chapter 2: Materials and methods			23
2.1	Anima	al models	23
	2.1.1	Intermittent palatable diet feeding paradigms	
2.2	In-vitr	o electrophysiology	24
	2.2.1 \$	Slice preparation	
	2.2.2	Whole-cell patch-clamp	
	2.2.3 1	Post-hoc immunohistochemistry of recorded cells	
2.3	Data a	inalysis	27
Chapter 3: Results		28	
3.1	Behavi	ioral responses to intermittent palatable food exposures	28
	3.1.1	Feeding behavior of male 1wDaily access group	
	3.1.2	Feeding behavior of male 2wMWF feeding group (3 access/week)	
	3.1.3	Comparison of behavioral response to different frequency of intermittent	
		palatable food exposures	
	3.1.4	Feeding behavior of male 6wMWF (3 access/week)	

- 3.1.5 Comparison of behavioral response to different number of intermittent palatable food exposures
- 3.1.6 Feeding behavior of female 6wMWF group (3 access/week)
- Electrophysiological properties of lateral hypothalamic neurons in 3.2 52 binge eating animal model
 - 3.2.1 Identification of orexin neurons
 - 3.2.2 Properties of Orexin neurons in 1wDaily access group
 - 3.2.3 Properties of orexin neurons in 2wMWF access group
 - 3.2.4 Properties of orexin neurons in male and female 6wMWF access groups
 - 3.2.5 Properties of orexin neurons in adolescent versus adult male controls
 - 3.2.6 Identification of MCH Neurons

3.2.7 MCH neuron properties in six-week males and females

Chapter 4: Discussion		73
4.1	Induction of binge-like feeding following intermittent access	73
4.2	1wDaily intermittent access	74
4.3	Three different intermittent access models produce similar	75
	binge-like behavior	
4.4	Comparison of adolescent and adult male feeding behavior	77

4.5	Comparison of male and female binge-like behavior	77
4.6	Intermittent feeding and body weight	78
4.7	Orexin neurons of young and adult rats exhibit similar	79
	electrophysiological properties	
4.8	Long-term, but not short-term HFD intermittent access	80
	hyperpolarizes orexin neurons	
4.9	No observable effect of intermittent HFD on MCH neurons	81
4.10	Potential mechanisms of altered orexin activity	82
4.11	Physiological implications of decreased orexin activity	83
4.12	Limitations of the current study	84
4.13	Conclusion	85

References

List of Figures

Figure 1	Overview of interactions between feeding and hedonic pathways	15
Figure 2	1wDaily intermittent palatable diet access induces binge-like feeding	30
Figure 3	1wDaily access to HFD does not alter body weight gain	31
Figure 4	2wMWF intermittent HFD access induces binge-like feeding	34
Figure 5	2wMWF in-cage chow or HFD access does not alter food intake between	35
	binge day and the subsequent day	
Figure 6	2wMWF access to HFD does not alter body weight gain	36
Figure 7	Two schedules of intermittent HFD access promote	38
	similar feeding behaviors	
Figure 8	6wMWF intermittent HFD access induces binge-like feeding.	41
Figure 9	1h access to HFD has a short-term inhibitory effect on chow intake	42
Figure 10	6wMWF access to HFD does not alter body weight gain	43
Figure 11	1wDaily, 2wMWF and 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD promote	45
	similar magnitudes of binge eating	
Figure 12	6wMWF intermittent HFD access induces binge-like feeding in female rats	48
Figure 13	1h access to HFD does not alter total daily food intake in female rats	49
Figure 14	6wMWF access to HFD does not alter body weight gain in female rats	50

- Figure 15 6wMWF exposure to HFD induces a similar magnitude of binge eating in 51 male and female rats
- Figure 16 1wDaily intermittent access to HFD, but not WD, alters excitability of orexin 54 neurons
- Figure 17 2wMWF intermittent access to HFD does not alter orexin neuron excitability 57
- Figure 18 More positive current is necessary to invoke the first action potential in orexin 58 neurons following 2wMWF intermittent access to HFD
- Figure 19 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD hyperpolarizes and decreases excitability 61 of orexin neuron
- Figure 20 6wMWF intermittent HFD access hyperpolarizes orexin neurons in female rats 62
- Figure 21 The correlation between resting membrane potential and membrane resistance 63 by diet condition differs between sexes in 6wMWF groups
- Figure 22 Orexin neuron activity undergoes no developmental changes in rats from 65 4 to 11 weeks of age
- Figure 23 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD has no apparent effect on MCH neuron 68 excitability
- Figure 24 Current ramps do not reveal any effect of 6wMWF intermittent access 70 to HFD on MCH neuron excitability in male rats

- Figure 25 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD has no apparent effect on MCH neuron 71 excitability in female rats
- Figure 26Current ramps do not reveal any effect of 6wMWF intermittent access to72

HFD on MCH neuron excitability in female rats

List of Abbreviations

1wDaily, 1-week daily feeding paradigm

2wMWF, 2-week feeding on Monday, Wednesday and Friday

6wMWF, 6-week feeding on Monday, Wednesday and Friday

ACSF, artificial cerebrospinal fluid

AgRP, agouti related peptide

BED, binge eating disorder

BIBO 3304, N-[(1R)-1-[[[[4-[[(Aminocarbonyl)amino]methyl]phenyl]methyl]amino]carbonyl]-

4-[(aminoiminomethyl)amino]butyl]-α-phenyl-benzeneacetamide ditrifluoroacetate

BN, bulimia nervosa

CART, cocaine and amphetamine related transcript

D2R, Dopamine receptor D₂

DA, dopamine

DSM-5, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual or Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition

GABA, gamma amino-butyric acid

GW-3430, 6-(4-chlorophenyl)-3-[3-methoxy-4-(2-pyrrolidin-1-ylethoxy)phenyl]-3H-thieno[3,2-d]pyrimidin-4-one

HFD, high fat diet

MCH, melanin concentrating hormone

MCH1R, melanin concentrating hormone receptor type 1

MCH2R, melanin concentrating hormone receptor type 2

NPY, neuropeptide Y

NPY-Y1, neuropeptide Y receptor type 1

OX1R, orexin receptor type 1

OX2R, orexin receptor type 2

PBS, phosphate buffer solution

POMC, proopiomelanocortin

SB334867, N-(2-Methyl-6-benzoxazolyl)-N'-1,5-naphthyridin-4-yl urea

VTA, ventral tegmental area

WD, western diet

Chapter 1 - Introduction

1.1 Binge eating

Binge eating refers to episodes of disordered food intake which meet two particular criteria: the first refers to feeding in which an excess of calories are consumed in a much smaller period of time than would be expected for the size of the meal, and the second affectively qualifies the feeding behaviors as accompanied by a feeling of loss of control during the eating. The behavior often occurs when individuals are not hungry or in metabolic need for food intake and when individuals are alone due to embarrassment over the amount of food consumed, and it is accompanied by feelings of shame and guilt (American Psychiatric Association, 2013; Hudson et al., 2007; Kessler et al., 2013). The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (5th ed.; *DSM-5*; 2013) lists binge eating as a criterion for eating disorders including bulimia nervosa (BN), binge eating disorder (BED) as well as eating disorder not otherwise specified, and the presence of the behavior is a risk factor for comorbid mental illnesses as well as multiple forms of physical health problems (Hudson et al., 2007; Javaras et al., 2008).

Binge eating can lead to an increased risk of overweight and obesity, with the number of binge eating episodes per month positively correlated with body mass index, and thus carries similar increased risks to physical health (Striegel-Moore et al., 2009). Those suffering from BN and BED are more likely to suffer from type-II diabetes, and thus are susceptible to further deleterious health effects due to the disease (Raevuori et al., 2014). Compared to women without BN or BED, women with these eating disorders also reported significantly higher incidence of poor or very poor health, as well as reporting higher incidence of specific physical ailments including joint and limb pain, gastrointestinal distress, shortness of breath and abnormal menstruation, which negatively affected normal day to day functioning and quality of life

(Johnson et al., 2001). BN specifically increases the risk for heart attack and stroke, while both disorders increase the risk for musculoskeletal, pain and cardio-metabolic conditions (Kessler et al., 2013). Furthermore, both eating disorders, and even subclinical binge eating, have significantly higher comorbidity rates for other mental illnesses compared to those without disordered eating. Specifically, rates for mood and anxiety disorders including major depressive disorder, agoraphobia and obsessive-compulsive disorder, impulse control disorders including attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder, and substance use disorders including alcoholism and drug dependence are significantly higher in this population compared to those without binge-eating disorders (Javaras et al., 2008; Johnson et al., 2001; Kessler et al., 2013).

As a behavioral symptom of mental illness, binge eating is treated with psychosocial therapies including cognitive behavioral therapy, however these therapies are rarely successful six months post-treatment (McElroy et al., 2012). Pharmacological treatments are also available that include targeting many different neurotransmitter systems, including antidepressants, psychomotor stimulants, and opioid-receptor antagonists. However, these pharmaceuticals have their own specific sets of risks and side-effects depending on the drug, and like psychotherapy are not effective in all cases (Arnold et al., 2002; McElroy et al., 2015). Therefore, in order to effectively treat binge eating behavior, it is necessary to further investigate the neurological correlates of this behavior, with a goal of identifying novel therapeutic targets.

1.1.1 Human studies

Human studies of binge eating tend to focus on epidemiology, treatment and the neurobiological correlates and potential underlying mechanisms for the behavior. Binge eating behavior typically manifests in young adulthood, with the age of onset typically ranging from 18 to 20 years for BN, earlier compared to 20 to 25 years for BED (Hudson et al., 2007; Kessler et

al., 2013). Binge eating disorders are considered by some to be "culturally-bound" disorders, in that they are prevalent more in Western societies compared to others. Even so, there are still significant differences across Western nations in their lifetime prevalence, ranging from low incidences of 0.1% for BN and 0.7% for BED in Italy, compared to 2.0% for BN and 4.7% for BED in Brazil (Kessler et al., 2013). One consistency is that the prevalence rates for BED are typically higher than those for BN in most nations. Some studies have demonstrated strong sex differences in the prevalence of these disorders, especially for BN. The female-to-male gender ratio has been estimated as ranging from as low as 5:1 to as high as 20:1 (Pesce et al., 2015; Steinhausen & Jensen, 2015). This gender difference also exists for BED, although the femaleto-male ratio is much lower compared to BN, ranging from 2:1 to 6:1 (Ágh et al., 2015). It is possible that these gender differences can partly be explained by societal factors, including more pressure on women than men to be thin, or for women to more often seek help for their maladaptive behaviors (Davis, 2015). However, hormonal influences cannot be excluded, and there is some evidence that feeding patterns and preferences change with the menstrual cycle (Frye & Demolar, 1994; McNeil et al., 2013). For example, ratings of chocolate craving have been found to vary with the menstrual cycle, and cravings were associated with more maladaptive eating habits, including guilt and inability to control intake (Hormes & Timko, 2011).

As previously mentioned, the main treatments for binge eating are therapist-led psychotherapy, medication or a combination of the two. Often, especially in the case of BED, clinically significant recovery is measured both by a reduction of binge eating as well as decreasing body weight, although weight loss may not be relevant in all cases (Mathes et al., 2009; McElroy et al., 2015). Meta-analyses of the effectiveness of certain talk therapies,

including cognitive behavioral therapy and interpersonal therapy, have shown them to be effective in reducing binge frequency compared to wait-list controls. However, some studies report that the therapeutic efficacy to reduce binge eating frequency was less significant at 12-month follow ups compared to that immediately post-treatment, indicating that they are not universally effective over time (McElroy et al., 2015; Wilfley et al., 2002). Antidepressants including fluoxetine and citalopram have been shown to reduce the frequency of binge episodes as well as associated psychiatric concerns, however the rate of drop-out from drug trials remains relatively high, from 16 to 57% (Arnold et al., 2002; McElroy et al., 2003, McElroy et al., 2012). Stimulant drugs such as lisdexamphetamine have also been shown to reduce binge frequency, however as with the antidepressants and other drug interventions, the rates of symptom improvement generally decrease once the drug is discontinued (Mathes et al., 2009). Combining therapy with drug treatment is often more successful than either treatment alone, however due to the number of drugs to choose from, finding the most suitable one for each patient varies from case to case, and again treatment effects often reduce once therapy or medication ceases.

Because treatment is not always successful, it is necessary to further understand the mechanisms underlying binge eating in the brain in order to figure out better treatments. Genetic studies within humans have provided some insights to these putative mechanisms of binge eating behavior based on the correlations with certain biological findings. For example, many studies have focused on the role of genetic variation in the activity of dopamine neurons, as well as dopamine transporters and receptors. Those with either BN or BED have been shown to be more likely to have a certain polymorphism of the dopamine transporter gene compared to those without an eating disorder, implicating the mesolimbic dopamine system with binge eating

behavior (Bello & Hajnal, 2010). However, human studies are yet unable to fully uncover the complex interaction between binge eating behavior and the brain.

1.1.2 Animal studies

Because the interconnected effects of binge eating and neuronal activity cannot be directly measured using human studies, animal models are necessary in order to use accurate, invasive methods of studying the neural associations of binge-like feeding. Animal models allow for the production, investigation and testing of binge-like models of food intake and the correlation of physiological parameters, including effects on the activity of neuronal populations. While it is difficult to measure subjective feelings in animal models that are a part of human binge eating, such as a loss of control or guilt, there are methods that can objectively test for factors such as anxious or depressive behaviors that may accompany binge-like feeding (Corwin & Buda-Levin, 2004). Due to the different behavioral phenotypes of the eating disorders, including variations in feeding frequency or self-imposed fasting, many different models have been generated in order to represent the variety of behaviors observed in each disorder. The common factor in modelling BN or BED is to promote binge-like feeding behavior in animals.

There are three common methods used to promote binge-like feeding behavior in animals, including using food restriction, stress, or intermittent exposure to palatable foods (Avena et al., 2008; Bake et al., 2014; Boggiano et al., 2007; Hagan et al., 2003; Pankevich et al., 2010; Vickers et al., 2015). In food restriction paradigms, animals do not have *ad libitum* access to any food for a period of time, or a baseline of caloric intake is measured and only a fraction is allotted to each animal (Hagan & Moss, 1997; Pankevich et al., 2010). These models have the benefit of being able to mimic some forms of human eating disorders in which people selfrestrict their food intake, only to engage in subsequent binge episodes. However, because food

restriction results in the altered levels of many hunger and satiety signals, including ghrelin, leptin, glucose and a number of neuropeptides in the brain, the subsequent neuronal effects from binge eating may be indiscernible from the effects of food restriction, potentially confounding the results. Thus, food restriction may not be a suitable methodology for investigating specific effects of binge eating, depending on what variables related to binge eating are intended for study (Ahima et al., 1996; Kunii et al., 1999; Zhao et al., 2008).

Binge episodes in humans are often precipitated by stressful life events, thus animal models involving stress exposure are able to mimic these feeding patterns (Kessler et al., 2013). Stress-induced binge eating involves pairing some form of stress with access to highly palatable foods. Foot shock, noise, or maternal separation are some common stressors used in these studies (Boggiano et al., 2007; Iwasaki et al., 2000; Wilson & Cantor, 1987). Like food restriction, experience to stress results in changes in a number of feeding related signals. For example, glucocorticoids that are released during stress interact with insulin and leptin function, both hormones that in part modulate the membrane potential and activity of neurons in the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus that regulate feeding behavior (Gyengesi et al., 2010). Downstream effects of stress exposure itself, like food restriction, may confound the effects of binge eating on neuronal populations. Thus, using models of stress-induced binge-like behavior may be inappropriate depending on the variables under investigation.

A third common method to promote binge-like behavior involves using intermittent exposure to palatable foods (Babbs et al., 2012; Corwin et al., 1998; Iemolo et al., 2012). In the majority of these models, animals have free access to standard chow and water throughout the study. In addition, animals are given access to a palatable food, in most cases between 30 and 120 minute episodes, daily, every other day, or three times per week on non-consecutive days

(Corwin et al., 1998; Dimitriou et al., 2000; Wojnicki et al., 2013). After a number of exposures, animals typically exhibit binge-like behavior upon presentation of the food. These intermittent access models have the benefit of reducing the number of variables by omitting factors related to food restriction or stress.

Using animal models of binge eating, it is possible to experimentally tease out neurophysiological correlates of these behaviors in the brain that may be the cause or the result of binge-like eating. The following sections will review physiological and neural evidence gathered from human research and animal models in the study of the central control of normal food intake and binge-like feeding.

1.2 Central control of feeding behavior

1.2.1 Overview

Early research on food intake has identified various putative mechanisms by which it is controlled. For example, the "glucostatic theory" postulates that food intake is governed by the level of available energy for the body. Mayer suggested that when levels of available energy, specifically glucose, falls, a meal is initiated in order to replenish available energy (Mayer, 1955). The "lipostatic theory" suggests that food intake is based not on levels of available glucose, but on levels of energy stored in the form of white adipose tissue (Kennedy, 1953). It has since become apparent that the regulation of energy balance is a complex process which integrates both central and peripheral neurobiological and endocrine signals with the environment. Simplistically, many of these signals can be thought of as either hunger mechanisms promoting food intake or satiety mechanisms that reduce food intake or terminate a meal.

Internal hunger mechanisms include signals coming from the digestive tract as well as concentrations of substances within the blood. The hormone ghrelin, dubbed the "hunger hormone" is secreted by the stomach and duodenum when hungry, whereas its secretion is decreased by increasing levels of glucose, fatty acids and dietary fiber following food intake (Gormsen et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2008; Shiiya et al., 2002). Insulin, a hormone produced by the pancreas, is released following food intake to decrease blood glucose levels and initiate glycogenesis (Berg et al., 2002). Another hormone, leptin, is produced by white adipose tissue at a level proportional to the amount of white adipose tissue in the body (Considine et al., 1996). These hormonal signals of both satiety and hunger, such as insulin, leptin and ghrelin, are able to act on circumventricular organs outside the blood-brain-barrier or adjacent brain areas where neurons bear receptors for these chemicals (Golden et al., 1997). Following food intake, increases in insulin and leptin activate anorexigenic neurons and inhibit orexigenic neurons in the brain, suppressing appetite (Cowley et al., 2001; Qiu et al., 2014). On the contrary, when energy stores are metabolized in between meals, decreasing levels of insulin and an increase in ghrelin in part stimulate hunger and promote the initiation of food intake.

The specific role of the brain, and in particular the hypothalamus, in food intake was first hypothesized from patients suffering from Fröhlich's syndrome, a disorder characterized by low levels of gonadotropin releasing hormone that results from hypothalamic abnormalities (Copeman, 1927; Morgan, 1959). Patients with the disorder engaged in excessive feeding behavior, suggesting to clinicians that the hypothalamus played a significant role in food intake. Following this, brain lesioning in animal studies revealed regions of the brain involved with feeding. Damage to the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus produced a voracious appetite, leading to it to be termed the "satiety center," whereas lesions of the lateral

hypothalamic area produced the cessation of feeding behavior, leading to starvation and death (Brobeck et al., 1943). Thus, this led to the lateral hypothalamus being labelled the "feeding center" (Anand & Brobeck, 1951). In the years following these lesion studies, comparably more precise and refined electrical stimulation studies were conducted, in which specific brain regions were stimulated with electrodes. Animals would subsequently eat ravenously if stimulated at the lateral hypothalamus, furthering the idea that particular parts of the brain control certain aspects of ingestive behavior (Hoebel, 1969). Later, these regions of the brain would be found to contain receptors for the peripheral signals of satiety and hunger, thus providing mechanistic evidence as to how the brain and body interact to regulate food intake.

In addition to homeostatic control of food intake, external food cues and psychological factors also play roles in hedonic control of feeding (Lutter & Nestler, 2009; Saper et al., 2002). Central control of homeostatic food intake occurs when metabolic signals indicating the need for energy are up- or downregulated, such as with leptin, ghrelin and other factors. On the other hand, hedonic food intake occurs outside the metabolic need for energy balance. It depends especially on external food cues such as the availability of palatable, calorie-rich food. Cues such as sight, smell or taste of food can stimulate brain regions involved with motivation and reward, promoting food intake for the pleasurable sensations it can provide (Amin & Mercer, 2016; Hussain & Bloom, 2012).

1.2.2 Hypothalamic control of food intake

The hypothalamus is considered to be the homeostatic control center of the body, maintaining such processes as body temperature, fluid balance, sleep-wake cycles, and food intake. It also serves to modify behaviors in order to maintain homeostasis of these processes. The hypothalamus contains multiple nuclei with distinct neuronal populations that produce

unique neuropeptides that function to increase or decrease feeding related sensations and behaviors. As previously mentioned, lesioning and stimulation studies first brought to light the integral role of the hypothalamus in feeding behavior (Brobeck et al., 1943; Hoebel, 1969). These studies highlighted the paraventricular, arcuate and lateral hypothalamic regions as being specific regions related to satiety and hunger. These nuclei have significant reciprocal projections with each other and with other brain regions. Furthermore, the arcuate nucleus is located adjacent to circumventricular organs. This allows these nuclei to regulate feeding behavior and food intake based upon the levels of peripheral signals.

As previously stated, the maintenance of energy homeostasis and food intake can be thought of as a series of competing satiety and hunger signals integrated by the hypothalamus. The arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus is the first to respond to changes in peripheral signals due to its proximity to circumventricular organs. These first order neurons include the orexigenic neuropeptide-Y and agouti related peptide (AgRP/NPY) expressing and the anorexigenic proopiomelanocortin and cocaine- and amphetamine-regulated transcript (POMC/CART) expressing neurons (Cowley et al., 2001). Satiety signals such as leptin and insulin are increased following food intake, and decrease the activity of NPY/AgRP neurons and excite POMC/CART neurons (Cowley et al., 2001). Hunger signals like ghrelin have the opposite effect (Wang et al., 2002). In addition, NPY has been shown to inhibit POMC/CART neurons, suggesting that complex interactions between peripheral signals and the interaction of these neuronal populations in part regulate hunger and satiety (Roseberry et al., 2004).

These key neurons of the arcuate nucleus have significant projections to second order neurons in other hypothalamic nuclei, including the lateral hypothalamus (Elias et al., 1999). The lateral hypothalamus contains neurons that produce orexigenic peptides, including the orexins and melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH). Both the arcuate and lateral hypothalamic nuclei affect one another in promoting food intake. For example, administration of an NPY-Y1 receptor antagonist, BIBO3304, partially attenuated orexin-induced feeding, suggesting that communication between the two nuclei in part regulate food intake (Yamanaka et al., 2000). Furthermore, the lateral hypothalamus lies at the intersection of homeostatic and hedonistic feeding due to the nature of its reciprocal projections within the hypothalamus and outside regions, including significant projections with dopaminergic ventral tegmental area (VTA) neurons as well as the nucleus accumbens (Fadel & Deutch, 2002; Stratford & Kelley, 1999). Animals will lever press in order to receive electrical stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus, and electrical stimulation has also been shown to increase feeding behavior (Huston, 1971; Mogenson & Stevenson, 1966). Together, these are indicative of the dual role of the lateral hypothalamus in both central control of food intake as well as motivation and reward.

1.2.3 Neurobiology of binge eating

The neurobiology of binge eating, unlike normal feeding behavior, may rely less on homeostatic mechanisms and may be modulated primarily by hedonic mechanisms. In terms of homeostatic factors, some have argued that episodes of binge eating are instances in which certain satiety mechanisms do not function properly, leading to a prolonged meal and excessive food intake (Blundell & Finlayson, 2004). Some studies have suggested abnormal levels of neuropeptides related to hunger and satiety, including lower basal or post-prandial levels of anorexic cholecystokinin and peptide YY, and decreased basal or increased post-prandial levels of ghrelin in those suffering from eating disorders compared to the general population (Geliebter et al., 2004; Monteleone et al., 2005). Another study addressing the same parameters had conflicting results, suggesting that the baseline levels of these hormones before a meal are

similar between groups. However, they found increased levels of meal-induced cholecystokinin and peptide YY in a binge eating population compared to weight-matched controls (Munsch et al., 2009). Considering the heterogeneity of feeding behaviors in binge-eating disorders, it is possible that the observed differences in peripheral signals are dependent on specific eating patterns and not binge-eating alone. Despite this, all forms of binge eating share a hedonic force driving the behavior.

The psychological motivation to eat primarily derives from the rewarding sensations provided by foods that are palatable, typically high in sugar and fat. This preference is partly mediated by the mesolimbic dopamine system and the endogenous opioid system. Rewarding sensations have long been associated with dopamine release from neurons in the VTA onto the nucleus accumbens, and palatable foods high in sugar or fat have been shown to stimulate this dopamine release (Avena et al., 2006; Rada et al., 2005; Rada et al., 2012). In addition, it has been shown in animal models that larger amounts of food result in a larger release of dopamine (Meguid et al., 1995). It is possible that the chronic release of dopamine from constant ingestion of foods high in sugar and fat modify the natural rewarding mechanisms of food intake, producing a feed-forward cycle of overeating, perhaps a similar mechanism observed in drug addiction (Alsiö et al., 2012). In addition to the release of dopamine, many studies have demonstrated that the hedonic consumption of sugars and fats is dependent on the activation of mu-opioid receptors, which have been correlated with feelings of pleasure, as well as being a factor involved with the intake of drugs of abuse (Chang et al., 2007; Colantuoni et al., 2001).

Binge eating has often been compared to drug addiction, with the first mention of socalled "food addiction" taking place several decades ago (Randolph, 1956). Many of the DSM-5 criteria for substance use disorders can be applied to those suffering from binge eating disorders,

including: use of larger amounts of drug, or food, over time; physical or psychological problems related to usage including negative affect or hangover effects; or spending excess time either engaging in the behavior or recovering from it, such that other obligations or activities are not met (Meule & Gearhardt, 2014; Smith & Robbins, 2013). This point of view in part led to the development of the Yale Food Addiction Scale, a diagnostic tool used to clinically assess the presence or severity of binge eating behavior in viewing it as an addictive behavior similar to drug abuse or compulsive gambling (Gearhardt, 2009). As previously mentioned, foods high in refined sugars and fats cause excessive dopamine release and activation of mu-opioid receptors in the brain, similar to commonly abused drugs such as nicotine, opiates and alcohol. Those with addictive disorders and those with binge eating disorders have also been shown to share similar genetic traits related to the dopamine system (Wang et al., 2001). In addition, psychosocial stressors often precipitate a binge episode, similar to how stress often precedes a drug binge (Hudson et al., 2007). Therefore, binge eating and addiction have similar behavioral and neurochemical properties.

However, binge eating also has aspects dissimilar to those of substance use disorders. The operational definitions of the disorders draw differences between the time frames of either a substance or food-related binge episode. Where drug use may be a near constant daily behavior, binge eating takes place in discrete periods of time, often lasting only a few hours maximum (Gearhardt et al., 2011). Furthermore, withdrawal and tolerance are two of the diagnostic criteria for substance dependence, whereas these criteria are not part of those for eating disorders in the DSM-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Nonetheless some studies have suggested that in animals trained to binge on palatable foods, administration of naloxone, an opioid receptor antagonist, produces measurable withdrawal symptoms such as tremor and anxiety, whereas

these effects were not present in control animals (Colantuoni et al., 2002). Others have suggested that not all people engaging in binge eating do so in the same way, classifying some people's binge eating as more "compulsive" or "addictive" in nature compared to that of others. For example, some people experience withdrawal-like symptoms such as negative affect, difficulty sleeping and inability to concentrate when not bingeing (Cassin & von Ranson, 2007). In summary, despite some differences, biological and psychological characteristics are highly similar between binge eating and substance dependence, which may suggest that these disorders are more alike than different.

1.3 Orexin and MCH

The lateral hypothalamus contains the cell bodies of both orexin and MCH-producing neurons that mediate both reward and food intake based upon connections with other brain regions. Thus, it is highly likely that these neurons play a significant role in binge eating that involves hedonic control of food intake. In the adult rat, orexin neurons are located approximately 2.3mm to 3.7mm posterior from the bregma, and MCH neurons from approximately 2.1mm to 3.9mm (Nambu et al., 1999; Sapin et al., 2010). Both orexin and MCH neurons are found in the lateral hypothalamic area as well as the perifornical area, whereas MCH neurons also extend into the anterior regions of the zona incerta and more medial regions (Hahn, 2010). These neurons project widely throughout the brain in order to regulate arousal, sleep, reward, stress, motivation and feeding behavior (Barson et al., 2013). A brief overview of some of the connections between these neurons and others regulating food intake and reward can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Overview of interactions between feeding and hedonic pathways

Peripheral signals influencing food intake, such as circulating leptin and ghrelin, activate or inhibit anorexigenic and orexigenic neurons in the arcuate nucleus, respectively. Orexigenic neuropeptide Y/agouti related peptide (NPY/AgRP) neurons of the arcuate nucleus inhibit orexin neurons, as do local MCH neurons in the lateral hypothalamus. In turn, orexin neurons project to NPY/AgRP neurons. Food intake stimulates the release of dopamine from the ventral tegmental area onto the nucleus accumbens, and both regions share projections to and from the lateral hypothalamus, where dopamine can activate or deactivate orexin neurons depending on the

concentration of dopamine release, whereas orexin has excitatory effects on dopaminergic neurons.

1.3.1 Orexin

The orexin, or hypocretin, peptides were independently discovered by two groups nearly twenty years ago (de Lecea et al., 1998; Sakurai et al., 1998). The name orexin derives from the Greek orexis, for appetite, while hypocretin is a portmanteau of hypothalamus and secretin, another neuropeptide that in part regulates water homeostasis. Orexins are produced by cleavage of the prepro-orexin peptide, resulting in orexin A and orexin B peptides. Orexin receptors are G-protein coupled receptors, OX1R and OX2R. Orexin A has equal affinities for both receptor types, whereas orexin B has a higher affinity for OX2R than OX1R. Orexin peptides are typically excitatory in nature, with activation of both orexin receptors resulting in an increase in intracellular calcium (Sakurai et al., 1998). While orexin neurons are only located in the lateral hypothalamus, they send extensive projections throughout the cerebrum and brainstem in order to regulate many functions. For example, orexins' projections to noradrenergic neurons of the locus coeruleus in part maintain arousal, and projections to the limbic system mediate mood (Hagan et al., 1999; Winsky-Sommerer, 2004). Injections of orexin A into the lateral ventricles have also been shown to promote anxiety-like behaviors compared to saline control, implicating orexin activity with the stress system (Suzuki et al., 2005).

Orexins have been shown to play a positive role in food intake, particularly the intake of palatable foods. Injection of orexin-A directly into hypothalamic nuclei including the lateral hypothalamus and paraventricular nucleus, as well as the nucleus accumbens, have been shown to promote intake of standard chow in sated rodents (Dube et al., 1999; Thorpe & Kotz, 2005). This effect has also been demonstrated when the food is palatable, and specifically increased consumption of a high fat food over a high carbohydrate food (Clegg et al., 2002). Furthermore, intraperitoneal administration of the OX1R antagonist SB-334867 preferentially decreases intake

of palatable high fat food in sated rats compared to vehicle injection, implicating that orexin activity may be necessary for hedonic food consumption (Choi et al., 2010).

The role of orexins in modulating feeding behavior is also partly based on orexin neurons' connections with other hypothalamic neurons regulating feeding. Orexins activate orexigenic NPY/AgRP neurons of the arcuate nucleus, whereas NPY inhibits orexin neuron firing (Fu, 2004; Yamanaka et al., 2000). NPY/AgRP neurons are directly responsive to peripheral signals such as leptin and ghrelin, thus orexin neurons are also downstream targets of these peripheral signals of hunger and satiety.

Orexin neurons also have projections to the VTA and the nucleus accumbens. Orexin peptides activate dopaminergic neurons of the VTA, as well as neurons of the nucleus accumbens shell, suggesting a role for orexins in reward and motivation (Korotkova et al., 2003; Mukai et al., 2009). On the other hand, our lab previously demonstrated that dopamine modulates GABAergic transmission to orexin neurons, disinhibiting them at low concentrations and inhibiting activity at higher concentrations (Linehan et al., 2015).

Given its connection with the VTA dopaminergic system, it is no surprise that orexins have been shown to play a role in substance dependence. Orexin-A injection results in reinstatement of drug seeking in addiction models, including alcohol and nicotine dependence (Lawrence et al., 2006; Plaza-Zabala et al., 2010). Conversely, orexin knock-out mice display a lower intensity of morphine dependence and opioid antagonist-induced withdrawal symptoms following repeated morphine exposure than wildtype mice, implicating orexin neurons in the development of substance dependence (Georgescu et al., 2003).

Similar effects have been noted for palatable food intake. Orexin injection into the fourth ventricle increases progressive ratio response for sucrose in rats, whereas injection of the OX1R antagonist SB334867 prevented the acquisition of a high-fat-induced conditioned place preference (Kay et al., 2014). Additionally, SB334867 administration reduced the cue-induced reinstatement of sucrose-seeking in food restricted rats (Cason & Aston-Jones, 2014). Finally, in a mouse model of binge-like consumption of sucrose or saccharin solutions, intraperitoneal administration of SB334867 significantly decreased the intake of these solutions without altering arousal as measured by locomotion (Alcaraz-Iborra et al., 2014). Considering the similarities between substance dependence and binge eating and the role orexins play in both food intake and drug dependence, these findings suggest a role for orexin activity in binge-like feeding behavior.

1.3.2 Melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH)

MCH was first discovered in the pituitary of teleost fishes as a factor that prevents changes in skin pigment by acting as an antagonist of alpha-melanocyte stimulating hormone (Kawauchi et al., 1983). Following this, the peptide was identified in the hypothalamus of rodents, and was found to be the natural ligand of an orphan receptor (Chambers et al., 1999). There are two isoforms of MCH receptor identified, MCH1R which is found in all vertebrates, and MCH2R which is found only in certain mammalian species, including humans, dogs, ferrets and others (Tan et al., 2002). MCH has been demonstrated as playing a role in sleep wake cycles, depressive behaviors, and food intake (García-Fuster et al., 2012; Qu et al., 1996; Verret et al., 2003). MCH receptor activation generally results in decreased neuronal activity, and MCH has been shown to reduce the activity of neighboring orexin neurons (Gao & Van Den Pol, 2001; Rao et al., 2008). However, repeated intracerebroventricular MCH administration resulted in an increase in NPY gene expression, suggesting that MCH may activate other orexigenic neurons of the hypothalamus (Della-Zuana et al., 2002).

Like orexin neurons, MCH neurons project widely across the brain, although the effects of MCH can be considered complementary, and sometimes opposite, to those of orexin. Where orexin promotes energy expenditure and wakefulness, the MCH system has been shown to have a negative effect on energy expenditure, as can be seen in the hyperactive phenotypes of animals with MCH knockout (Alon and Friedman, 2006). Indeed, MCH neurons are relatively silent during wakefulness and display spontaneous firing activity during REM sleep (Hassani et al., 2009). However, both peptide systems have been linked to states of stress. Administration of MCH produces anxiety-like behaviors in rats as measured by behaviors in the elevated plus maze, whereas the MCH1R antagonist GW3430 attenuates the anxiogenic effects of MCH when co-administered, and produces anxiolytic effects when administered alone (Smith et al., 2005). Furthermore, MCH neurons have also been implicated in reward and motivation. The nucleus accumbens shell, a prominent structure in reward and addiction, has a dense concentration of MCH1R receptors, strongly suggesting a role in reward (Saito et al., 2001). Activation of the MCH1R receptor has been shown to potentiate cocaine-induced increases in locomotion, and blockade or knockout of these receptors results in reduced response to cocaine and conditioned place preference (Chung et al., 2009).

Also similar to orexin neurons, MCH neuron activation increases palatable food consumption, and palatable foods in turn activate MCH neurons (Gomori et al., 2003). While MCH has been shown to promote food intake, antagonism of MCH1R has been shown to reduce the conditioned responses and reinstatement for sucrose-seeking (Karlsson et al., 2012). Also, compared to wildtype controls, MCH1R knockout mice display decreased levels of overeating

when presented with a conditioned stimulus for sucrose availability, suggesting MCH plays a role in non-homeostatic feeding (Sherwood et al., 2015). Considering the roles that both orexin and MCH neurons have in food intake and addictive behaviors, it is possible that both groups of neurons play significant roles in the development or maintenance of binge-like feeding behaviors.

1.4 Rationale and Objectives

Because binge eating is a hedonic form of feeding that parallels addiction, it likely involves the reward system and food intake control center. Orexin and MCH neurons are important regulators of food intake and the reward system. Therefore, I hypothesized that these neural populations are functionally altered in a rat model of binge-like feeding in a manner that promotes binge eating. This thesis tested this hypothesis by examining the electrophysiological properties of both orexin and MCH neurons in rats displaying binge-like feeding on palatable diets.

Objective 1 – Establishing an animal model of binge eating

In order to investigate any possible correlations of altered function of orexin or MCH neurons in binge-like feeding, a reliable, robust animal model of binge eating is necessary. Because both food restriction and physical stress may have direct and indirect effects on orexin and MCH neurons irrespective of binge eating, I utilized an animal model of binge eating using intermittent access to palatable foods.

Objective 2 – Characterize orexin and MCH neurons in the binge eating model

To determine functional changes of these neurons associated with binge eating, *in-vitro* electrophysiological recordings were performed. This research may represent the first

electrophysiological study of orexin and MCH neurons following induction of binge-eating behavior in rats. Any associated changes may represent unique mechanisms that underlie binge eating, which can lead to the development of novel treatments for binge eating disorders.

Chapter 2 - Materials and Methods

All experiments were conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care, under the approval of the Memorial University Institutional Animal Care Committee.

2.1 Animal Models

Male and female 3 to 4 week old Sprague-Dawley rats (40-100g) were obtained from the breeding colony of Memorial University. Rats were singly housed and acclimatized for 3 days before the feeding paradigms started in a temperature and light controlled room (12:12h light-dark schedule, with lights on from 8:00 am to 8:00 pm) within the animal care facility in the Health Sciences Centre. Chow (Prolab RMH 3000) and water were provided *ad-libitum*. For *ad libitum* feeding, chow was placed on the food hopper.

2.1.1 Intermittent palatable diet feeding paradigms

<u>1-week daily feeding (1wDaily)</u> paradigm: following acclimatization, rats were allowed in-cage access from 2:00 pm to 3:00 pm on 6 to 11 consecutive days to one of three diets: standard chow (29.8% protein, 13.4% fat, 56.7% carbohydrate; 3.08kcal/g), a high fat diet (HFD) (Research Diets D12492, 20% protein, 60% fat, 20% carbohydrate; 5.24kcal/g), and a "western diet" (WD) high in sugar and fat (Test Diet AIN76-A, Western Diet, 15.5% protein, 40.1% fat, 44.4% carbohydrate; 4.49kcal/g).

<u>2-week Monday, Wednesday, Friday feeding paradigm (2wMWF)</u>: Following acclimatization, rats had 1-hour in-cage access from 2:00 pm to 3:00 pm to a known amount of one of two diets, chow or HFD on Mondays, Wednesdays and Fridays (MWF) for a total of 6 to 9 in-cage food exposures.

<u>6-week MWF feeding paradigm (6wMWF)</u>: This paradigm followed the same weekly schedule as the 2wMWF feeding paradigm, except rats were given at least 18, up to 26 in-cage food exposures.

For all animals, the in-cage diets were removed following the one hour exposure and weighed with a digital scale in order to assess the amount of the diet consumed. Daily chow intake from the food hopper was also measured at this time. Caloric intake from the in-cage food and chow in the hopper were calculated from the weight of food that disappeared and the caloric density of each food. Total daily caloric intake was the sum of calories consumed from the two sources of food. A percentage of caloric intake from intermittent exposure to in-cage food was calculated by dividing the calories consumed from intermittent feeding by the total daily caloric intake. This percentage of total caloric intake consumed during the 1-hour feeding was used as a measure of binge-feeding intensity. Initial body weights were measured upon arrival and final body weights for each rat were recorded prior to sacrifice.

2.2 In-vitro electrophysiology

2.2.1 Slice Preparation

Each rat was sacrificed the morning following their final 1-hour food exposure. Rats were anaesthetized with isoflurane and decapitated, and the brains removed, trimmed, and placed in a vibratome (Leica Microsystems VT1000S) chamber filled with ice-cold buffer solution perfused with 95%O₂/5%CO₂, containing (in mM): 87 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 25 NaHCO₃, 7 MgCl₂, 1.25 NaH₂PO₄, 25 glucose, 30 sucrose, 3 pyruvic acid, 1 ascorbic acid, 0.5 CaCl₂. Slices were coronally sectioned at 250µm and then incubated for 30 minutes in 32-34°C artificial cerebrospinal fluid (ACSF) perfused with 95%O₂/5%CO₂, containing the following (in mM):
119 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1.2 NaH₂PO₄, 1.2 MgCl₂, 25 NaHCO₃, 2.5 glucose, 1 ascorbic acid, 0.5 CaCl₂. Following this, slices were maintained at room temperature in ACSF perfused with $95\%O_2/5\%CO_2$ until patch clamp electrophysiology.

2.2.2 Whole-cell patch-clamp

Hemisected slices were placed in a recording chamber with ACSF bubbled with 95%O₂/5%CO₂ perfused at 1.5-2.5 mL/min at 26-28°C under an infrared-differential interference contrast microscope (DM LFSA Leica Microsystems). Whole-cell patch-clamp experiments were conducted using a Multiclamp 700B amplifier and pClamp 9.2 and 10.3 software (Molecular Devices). The recording pipettes had a tip resistance between 3-6MΩ when filled with internal solution containing the following (in mM): 123 K-gluconate, 2 MgCl₂, 8 KCl, 0.2 EGTA, 10 HEPES, 4 Na₂.ATP, 0.3 Na-GTP, 7.3pH. The internal solution also included 2.2mM biocytin for post-hoc immunohistochemistry.

Voltage-clamp mode at -70mV was used to form a gigaohm seal before breaking into the cell, at which point membrane capacitance, membrane resistance, and access resistance were measured and recorded. Neurons with membrane resistance below 200M Ω or access resistance above 20 M Ω were excluded from analysis. Current-clamp mode was used to identify putative orexin and MCH neurons by their electrophysiological responses to hyperpolarizing and depolarizing current steps ranging from -200pA to 200pA in 50pA increments. These recordings were also used to assess resting membrane potential, latency to first spike, threshold, and elicited action potential frequency. A current ramp protocol was also used which injected current from 0pA to 100pA or 200pA over five seconds. Resulting responses were used to assess rheobase, or the minimum current injection necessary to elicit an action potential, and elicited action potential

25

frequency. Recordings were digitized at 20kHz in Clampex, and at 1kHz in Axoscope, and stored for off-line analysis.

2.2.3 Post-hoc immunohistochemistry of recorded cells

Following patch-clamp, brain slices were placed in 10% formalin (Sigma Aldrich) at least overnight, then washed three times for ten minutes in phosphate buffer solution (PBS). Primary antibodies were prepared by diluting anti-Orexin A goat polyclonal IgG (1:2000 dilution; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and anti-MCH rabbit polyclonal IgG (1:2000 dilution; Phoenix Pharmaceuticals) in PBS with 0.3% Triton-X (Fisher Scientific). After washing, slices were placed in a 96-well plate and submerged in 70µL of the primary antibody solution, covered, and kept at 4°C for 72 hours. Following incubation with primary antibodies, slices were washed again in PBS. Secondary antibody cocktail contained 1:500 donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen), 1:500 donkey anti-rabbit Alexa Fluor 594 (Invitrogen) and 1:500 streptavidin Alexa Fluor 350 (Life Technologies). Slices were incubated in secondary antibodies in dark, overnight at 4°C. After incubating in secondary antibodies, sections were again washed in PBS and mounted onto glass slides with Dako Fluorescent Mounting Medium (Dako, Agilent Technologies). Slices were then assessed under a fluorescence microscope to determine whether biocytin-labelled cells were positive for orexin A or MCH peptide. A small number of patched cells without clear biocytin-labelling (24 of 152 orexin neurons, or 15.8%; and 9 of 51 MCH neurons, or 17.6%) were included in the analysis based upon their electrophysiological responses to hyperpolarizing and depolarizing currents.

26

2.3 Data Analysis

Electrophysiological data was analyzed using Clampfit 9.2 and 10.3, (Molecular Devices). All data are expressed as mean \pm standard error, where n represents the total number of cells per group. Statistical analysis was performed for feeding, body weight and electrophysiological data using appropriate tests in GraphPad Prism 6 software (GraphPad Software). Student's *t* tests, one-way or repeated measures two-way ANOVA were used to analyze group data. Multiple comparisons were made using the Sidak test where appropriate. Statistical significance was chosen as *p*<0.05.

Chapter 3 - Results

3.1 Behavioral responses to intermittent palatable food exposures

3.1.1 Feeding Behavior of male 1wDaily access group

In order to determine whether a 1-hour intermittent feeding paradigm induces binge-like feeding behavior, rats were given 1h-access daily to control diet (chow, n=11), 60% high fat diet (HFD, n=16) or western diet (WD, n=6), and caloric intake from these diets was measured daily. Compared to the chow group, the HFD group consumed more calories during the one-hour feeding period on each day of intermittent exposure, whereas the WD group consumed more calories from day 2 onward, and this amount increased over elapsed days (Fig 2A, main effect of diet p<0.0001; main effect of elapsed days p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA). The groups consumed different amounts of calories from chow from the food hopper (Fig. 2B, main effect of diet, p<0.0001; main effect of elapsed days, p<0.05; interaction p<0.001; two-way ANOVA). Multiple comparisons revealed that control and WD groups consumed a comparable amounts of hopper chow during the study, however the HFD group consumed less chow on the first (p<0.05), third (p<0.001), fourth (p<0.001), fifth (p<0.001) and sixth days (p<0.0001) day compared to chow control. This decrease is likely to be compensatory, because as mentioned above, the amount of HFD consumption significantly increased with repeated daily exposures within groups, whereas the chow group consistently consumed similar amount of calories during the 1h period on consecutive days. All groups consumed a similar amount of total calories throughout the 6-day feeding period, but this amount changed with time (Fig. 2C, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of elapsed days, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05, two-way ANOVA). Both the HFD and WD groups consumed a substantial proportion of their daily caloric intake from the palatable diets during the 1-hour exposure compared to chow control, and this proportion

increased over time (Fig. 2D, main effect of diet, p<0.0001; main effect of elapsed time, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA). We compared the percent of total daily intake during the 1-hour food exposure during the latter half of the food exposure between the three groups as a measure of the plateau of binge-like feeding. There was a significant difference between the groups (Fig. 2E, p<0.0001, chow mean= $5.1\pm2.7\%$, HFD mean= $27.1\pm8.5\%$ and WD mean= $17.9\pm2.9\%$, one-way ANOVA), and multiple comparisons revealed a difference between chow and HFD (p<0.0001), chow and WD (p<0.01) and HFD and WD (p<0.05). This suggests that both HFD and WD access groups engaged in binge-like behavior, and it was more robust in the HFD group.

Initial body weights were taken for a subsample of the chow (n=10) and HFD (n=9) group, and there was no significant difference between the groups (Fig. 3A, chow=86.4 \pm 3.1g, HFD=74.8 \pm 5.2g, p>0.05, Student's t-test). Body weight gain was also compared between the two groups, and again there was no significant difference between groups (Fig. 3B, chow=87.2 \pm 6.8g, HFD=91.6 \pm 11.5g, p>0.05, Student's t-test).



Figure 2. 1wDaily intermittent palatable diet access induces binge-like feeding

A. Caloric intake from food provided in-cage for 1h. *B.*24h intake of chow provided *ad libitum* via a food hopper. *C.* Daily total calorie intake was calculated as a sum of 24h-intake of chow provided *ad libitum* and 1h-intake of chow, HFD or WD. *D.* Percentage of calories consumed during the 1h access to chow, HFD or WD with respect to total daily caloric intake. *E.* Average of the proportion of caloric intake from 1h access to chow, HFD or WD with respect to total caloric intake. *E.* Average caloric intake from their respective plateaus. Chow, black closed circles (n=11), HFD, gray closed circles (n=16) and WD, open circles (n=6). * for control vs HFD, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001 + for control vs WD, +p<0.05, ++p<0.01, +++p<0.001, ++++p<0.0001



Figure 3. 1wDaily access to HFD does not alter body weight gain

A. Initial body weights for a subsample of rats in 1wDaily chow (n=10) and HFD (n=9) groups.*B.* Body weight gain was calculated as initial weight subtracted from final weight before sacrifice.

3.1.2 Feeding behavior of male 2wMWF feeding group (3 access/week)

Previous literature suggests that both daily intermittent diet access (Bake et al., 2014; Kelley et al., 2003) and diet access three times per week (MWF) (Corwin et al., 1998; de Jong et al., 2013) are able to induce binge-like behavior. Some studies suggest that intermittent access in MWF schedule results in greater binge-like behavior (Babbs et al., 2012; Corwin et al., 1998; Dimitriou et al., 2000). Therefore, we decided to use an alternative feeding schedule to assess whether it can produce more robust binge-like behavior as measured by the percent of total daily calories from HFD, or whether the time course of behavioral responses changes. We chose to test HFD and exclude WD from this paradigm, since HFD produced stronger binge-like behavior than WD in the 1wDaily feeding model. To test for any differences between the patterns of HFD exposure, i.e. daily or three times a week on non-consecutive days, the number of intermittent HFD access periods was matched to that of the 1-week group.

The chow (n=4) and HFD-fed (n=4) groups consumed a different amount of calories during the 1h feeding period, which increased over time (Fig. 4A, main effect of diet, p<0.01; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001, two-way ANOVA). Multiple comparisons revealed that the amount of caloric consumption during the 1h period significantly increased with repeated exposures, resulting in significantly different caloric intake during the 1h feeding period from the second exposure onward. Both groups consumed a similar number of calories from chow from the hopper during the study (Fig. 4B, effect of diet, p>0.05; effect of number of exposures, p>0.05; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA), and total daily caloric intake was not different between the chow control and HFD groups (Fig. 4C, effect of diet, p>0.05; effect of number of exposures, p>0.05; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). The HFD group consumed a larger percentage of their calories during the 1-hour food exposure,

32

which increased with successive exposures (Fig. 4D, main effect of diet, p<0.01; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.01), interaction, p<0.01; two-way ANOVA). The chow group consistently consumed fewer calories during the 1h exposure.

To better characterize the feeding behavior, we asked whether 1h bingeing on HFD influenced the chow intake on the same day as well as subsequent days. Specifically, we compared the total chow consumed on binge days (1h exposure to HFD) with those on the subsequent day (non-binge day). The rats consumed a similar amount of chow from the hopper on binge day compared to the subsequent day (Fig. 5A, effect of day, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Overall, 1h access to HFD had no significant effect on total calories consumed (Fig. 5B, no effect of day, p>0.05; main effect of an effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.01; two-way ANOVA), however multiple comparisons revealed that the total calories consumed on the day of the sixth intermittent access were greater than those of the following day (p<0.05).

In order to assess the effect of binge-like feeding on body weight, body weights were measured at day one and on the final day. There were no differences in initial body weight of chow ($67.2g\pm1.8g$) and HFD groups ($67.2g\pm0.8g$) (Fig. 6A, p>0.05, Student's t-test), or in the total body weight gain of chow ($247.5g\pm15.1g$) and HFD ($269.0g\pm16.6g$) groups (Fig. 6B, p>0.05, Student's t-test).

33



Figure 4. 2wMWF intermittent HFD access induces binge-like feeding.

A. Caloric intake from food provided in-cage for 1h. *B.* 24h intake of chow provided *ad libitum* via a food hopper. *C.* Daily total calorie intake was calculated as a sum of 24h-intake of chow provided *ad libitum* and 1h-intake of chow or HFD. *D.* Percentage of calories consumed during the 1h access to chow or HFD with respect to total daily caloric intake. Chow, closed black diamonds (n=4); HFD, open grey diamonds (n=4). *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ****p<0.001. Black arrowheads represent 1h in-cage food exposures.



Figure 5. 2wMWF in-cage chow or HFD access does not alter food intake between binge day and the subsequent day

A. For HFD group, total daily caloric intake on binge day consisted of calories from hopper chow plus calories from in-cage HFD. Total caloric intake on the subsequent day was only calories from hopper chow. *B*. Chow intake from the hopper on binge day versus the subsequent day. Binge day, open grey diamonds, closed line; subsequent day, closed black squares and dashed line. **p>0.01.



Figure 6. 2wMWF access to HFD does not alter body weight gain

A. Initial body weights for 2wMWF chow (n=4) and HFD (n=4) groups. *B*. Body weight gain was calculated as initial weight subtracted from final weight before sacrifice.

3.1.3 Comparison of behavioral response to different frequency of intermittent palatable food exposures

Literature suggests that greater intervals of intermittent feeding result in greater bingelike behavior (Corwin et al., 1998; Wojnicki et al., 2013), so we compared these two groups with different feeding intervals to determine whether binge eating was more intense in 2wMWF paradigm with longer intervals between feeding episodes than the daily schedule.

We found no difference overall in the calories consumed between one-week and twoweek groups (Fig. 7A, main effect of feeding schedule, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001, interaction, p<0.01; two-way ANOVA), although multiple comparisons revealed a significant difference on the sixth day, with rats on 1-week daily feeding paradigm $(13.7\pm1.4\text{kcal})$ consuming less than those on two-week MWF paradigm $(24.7\pm3.9\text{kcal})$ (p<0.01). Nonetheless, there was no significant difference between the two groups in the total percent of calories obtained from HFD (Fig. 7B, main effect of feeding paradigm, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Furthermore, multiple comparisons revealed no differences between the groups (p>0.05 on each number of exposure). This suggests that by the end of their respective intermittent feeding paradigms, both groups engaged in binge-like behavior of a similar magnitude.



Figure 7. Two schedules of intermittent HFD access promote similar feeding behaviors

A. Total calories from HFD in the 1wDaily (n=16) and 2wMWF (n=4) groups. *B*. Percent of daily calories from HFD in the 1wDaily and 2wMWF groups. 1wDaily HFD, closed grey circles; 2wMWF HFD, open grey diamonds. **p>0.01.

3.1.4 Feeding behavior of male 6wMWF (3 access/week)

Next, we decided to determine whether more repetition would lead to a more severe binge eating behavior. This time, we extended the MWF paradigm to six weeks, so that the number of intermittent accesses to HFD increased from six to eighteen.

The HFD group consumed more calories during the intermittent feeding than control group, and HFD intake increased over time (Fig. 8A, main effect of diet diet, p=0.0001; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA). However, the HFD group consumed less chow than the control group overall (Fig, 8B, main effect of diet, p<0.05, main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA). As a result, both chow control and HFD group consumed a similar amount of total calories throughout the experiment (Fig. 8C, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.001; two-way ANOVA). Again, the HFD group progressively consumed a larger proportion of calories during the 1h intermittent food access than control group (Fig. 8D, main effect of diet, p<0.0001; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.001; interaction, p<0.01; 2-way ANOVA) which plateaued after the third exposure

Like the 2wMWF group, we compared the total calories and calories from chow consumed on the feeding day to the day after in the HFD group. We found that they consumed less calories from chow on the binge day (Fig. 9A, main effect of day, p<0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05 two-way ANOVA), but the total calories consumed was similar on binge days as the subsequent days (Fig. 9B, effect of day, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Thus, even though the animals display binge-like behavior upon HFD exposure, they are able to

39

compensate for the excess calories consumed from HFD by reducing chow intake, suggesting that their homeostatic control is intact.

We also compared the initial body weights and body weight gain (Fig. 10B) between chow (n=7) and HFD (n=7) 6wMWF groups. There was no difference in initial body weights (Fig. 10A, chow=77.2±2.6g, HFD=70.0±3.9g, p>0.05, Student's t-test) or in body weight gain (Fig. 10B, chow=434.8±15.1g, HFD=382.1±30.2g, p>0.05, Student's t-test).



Figure 8. 6wMWF intermittent HFD access induces binge-like feeding in male rats.

A. Caloric intake from food provided in-cage for 1h. *B*. 24h intake of chow provided *ad libitum* via a food hopper. *C*. Daily total calorie intake was calculated as a sum of 24h-intake of chow provided *ad libitum* and 1h-intake of chow or HFD. *D*. Percentage of calories consumed during the 1h access to chow or HFD with respect to total daily caloric intake. Chow (n=7), open white circles; HFD (n=7) closed blue circles. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p>0.001, ****p<0.0001. Black arrowheads represent 1h in-cage food exposures.



Figure 9. 1h access to HFD has a short-term inhibitory effect on chow intake

A. For the HFD (n=7) group, total daily caloric intake on binge day consisted of calories from hopper chow plus calories from in-cage HFD. Total caloric intake on the subsequent day was only calories from hopper chow. *B*. Chow intake from the hopper on binge day versus the subsequent day. Binge day, closed blue circles and closed line; subsequent day, open squares and dashed line. *p>0.05.



Figure 10. 6wMWF access to HFD does not alter body weight gain in male rats

A. Initial body weights for 6wMWF chow (n=7) and HFD (n=7) groups. *B*. Body weight gain was calculated as initial weight subtracted from final weight before sacrifice.

3.1.5 Comparison of behavioral response to different number of intermittent palatable food exposures

In order to assess whether the magnitude of binge-like feeding would increase with a greater number of HFD exposures, we compared the percent of daily intake from HFD during the last three exposures for the 1wDaily, 2w- and 6wMWF groups. We chose the final three exposures because the intake was the greatest at these time points. There was no significant difference in the proportion of total calories coming from HFD between any group (Fig. 11, p>0.05, 1wDaily mean=27.1±8.5%, 2wMWF mean=25.1±6.5%, 6wMWF mean=26.8±6.1%, one-way ANOVA), suggesting that each schedule produced similar plateau of binge-like behavior



Figure 11. 1wDaily, 2wMWF and 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD promote similar magnitudes of binge eating

Mean percentage of calories consumed during the 1h access from HFD with respect to total daily caloric intake in the last three HFD exposures for 1wDaily (27.1%, n=16), 2wMWF (25.1%, n=4) and 6wMWF (26.8%, n=7).

3.1.6 Feeding behavior of female 6wMWF group (3 access/week)

The literature suggests that binge-like behavior occurs more often in females than males (Hudson et al., 2007; Kessler et al., 2013). However, it is unclear whether this is due to psychosocial factors intrinsic to humans or biological differences between males and females. Therefore, we sought to determine whether there are any sex differences in binge-like behavior in our rat model.

Using the 6-week, three access a week paradigm, we found that the female HFD group consumed significantly more calories during intermittent HFD access than female control chow group and the calories consumed increased over time (Fig. 12A, main effect of diet, p<0.0001; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA). In contrast, the control group consumed significantly more calories from standard chow over 24h, than the HFD group (Fig. 12B, main effect of diet, p<0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.001; two-way ANOVA). Taken together, female control (n=7) and HFD group (n=6) consumed a similar amount of total daily calories (Fig. 12C, main effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.001; two-way ANOVA), but the HFD group consumed a higher proportion of daily calories during the intermittent feeding period than control group (Fig. 12D, main effect of diet, p<0.001; main effect of diet, p<0.001; main effect of diet, p<0.001; two-way ANOVA).

The female HFD group consumed similar amounts of calories from hopper chow on binge days as subsequent days (Fig. 13A, main effect of day, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Furthermore, they consumed similar amounts of total calories on the binge days as the subsequent days (Fig. 13B, main effect of day, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.05; two-way ANOVA). This indicates that while HFD animals consumed similar amounts of chow on binge days as well as the subsequent days, overall they consumed less chow than the control group. These results contrast with those found in the male 6wMWF group, suggesting that intermittent HFD access affects male and female feeding behavior differently.

Like the males, we compared the initial body weights and body weight gain between female chow (n=6) and HFD (n=7) 6wMWF groups. There was no difference in initial body weights (Fig. 14A, chow= $68.4\pm5.2g$, HFD= $72.8\pm1.5g$, p>0.05, Student's t-test) or in body weight gain (Fig. 14B, chow= $194.7\pm7.4g$, HFD= $193.8\pm12.0g$, p>0.05, Student's t-test).

In order to assess any sex-specific differences in feeding and binge-like behavior, we compared the male and female 6wMWF HFD groups. HFD males and females consumed a similar number of calories from HFD during 1-hour food exposure (Fig. 15A, effect of sex, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.05; two-way ANOVA). HFD males consumed more hopper chow (Fig. 15B, main effect of sex, p<0.01; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA), and more total daily calories (Fig. 15C, main effect of sex, p<0.01; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.001; two-way ANOVA), and more total daily calories (Fig. 15C, main effect of sex, p<0.01; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.0001; two-way ANOVA) than HFD females. Nonetheless, males and females consumed a similar proportion of their daily calories from HFD on intermittent access days (Fig. 15D, effect of sex, p>0.05; main effect of number of exposures, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Thus, the intensity of binge eating is similar between sexes.



Figure 12. 6wMWF intermittent HFD access induces binge-like feeding in female rats.

A. Caloric intake from food provided in-cage for 1h. *B*. 24h intake of chow provided *ad libitum* via a food hopper. *C*. Daily total calorie intake was calculated as a sum of 24h-intake of chow provided *ad libitum* and 1h-intake of chow, HFD or WD. *D*. Percentage of calories consumed during the 1h access to chow or HFD with respect to total daily caloric intake. Chow (n=7), open white triangles; HFD (n=6) closed red triangles. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p>0.001, ****p<0.0001. Black arrowheads represent 1h in-cage food exposures.



Figure 13. 1h access to HFD does not alter total daily food intake in female rats

A. For the HFD group, total daily caloric intake on binge day consisted of calories from hopper chow over 24h plus calories from in-cage HFD during the 1-hour access. Total caloric intake on the subsequent day was only calories from hopper chow. *B*. 24-h chow intake from the hopper on binge day versus the subsequent day. Chow (n=7), open white triangles; HFD (n=6) closed red triangles. Binge day, solid line; subsequent day, dashed line.



Figure 14. 6wMWF access to HFD does not alter body weight gain in female rats

A. Initial body weights for 6wMWF chow (n=7) and HFD (n=6) groups. *B*. Body weight gain was calculated as initial weight subtracted from final weight before sacrifice.



Figure 15. 6wMWF exposure to HFD induces a similar magnitude of binge eating in male and female rats

A. Caloric intake from food provided in-cage for 1h. *B*. 24h intake of chow provided *ad libitum* via a food hopper. *C*. Daily total calorie intake was calculated as a sum of 24h-intake of chow provided *ad libitum* and 1h-intake of chow, HFD or WD. *D*. Percentage of calories consumed during the 1h access to chow or HFD with respect to total daily caloric intake. Male (n=7), closed blue circles; Female (n=6) closed red triangles. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p>0.001, ****p<0.0001. Black arrowheads represent 1h in-cage food exposures.

3.2 Electrophysiological properties of lateral hypothalamic neurons in binge eating animal model

Using the animal model established above, we investigated the electrophysiological changes in orexin and MCH neurons associated with binge eating.

3.2.1 Identification of orexin neurons

Orexin neurons are localized in the lateral hypothalamus and perifornical area, and characterized by their relatively large size compared to other neurons in the same area. Our lab has previously established a reliable method of identifying orexin neurons in young rats aged 3 to 4 weeks based on certain electrophysiological properties and post-hoc immunohistochemistry (Belanger-Willoughby et al., 2016; Linehan et al., 2015; Parsons et al., 2012). Specifically, Orexin neurons could be identified by H-currents upon application of hyperpolarizing currents, rebound depolarization often capped by action potentials after removal of hyperpolarizing currents, as well as spontaneous activity in the absence of current injection. The present study found the same electrophysiological characteristics in orexin neurons from rats six and eleven weeks old (Fig. 16A). A majority of cells that displayed these characteristics were confirmed to be immunopositive for orexin A (120 of 145 cells) and were included in the analysis (Fig. 16B). The remaining 25 neurons (17.2%) were not successfully filled with biocytin, however the latter subgroup was also included in the analysis because they displayed electrophysiological responses to hyperpolarizing and depolarizing currents typical of orexin neurons.

3.2.2 Properties of Orexin neurons in 1wDaily access group

Using a series of positive and negative step current injections in current clamp mode, we analyzed electrophysiological parameters in order to detect any differences between the three

52

diet groups under the daily intermittent access paradigm. Resting membrane potential did not differ between the control (-47.2 \pm 4.1mV, n=17 cells from 7 rats), HFD (-46.6 \pm 3.1mV, n=24 cells from 8 rats), or WD (-45.9 \pm 3.9mV, n=10 cells from 4 rats) groups (Fig. 16C, p>0.05, oneway ANOVA). Furthermore, no significant differences were found in spontaneous action potential frequency between the three groups (Fig. 16D, p>0.05, one-way ANOVA). In response to positive current injections, there was no overall difference in latency to the first spike between the groups (Fig. 16E, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p<0.05; two-way ANOVA). However, multiple comparisons revealed that the 50pA current injection was shorter in orexin neurons from HFD group compared to control group (p<0.05). There was no change in the threshold (Fig. 16F, p>0.05, one-way ANOVA) or the number of elicited action potentials (Fig. 16G, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Together, these results suggest that one week of intermittent HFD access does not affect basal excitability of orexin neurons, but may increase their sensitivity to depolarizing stimuli.



Figure 16. 1wDaily intermittent access to HFD, but not WD, alters excitability of orexin neurons

A. Above: Representative traces for orexin neurons following application of current steps. Below:
Diagram illustrating current injection protocol for traces above. B. Fluorescent
immunohistochemistry showing neuron labelled with biocytin, orexin A peptide and overlay. C.
Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. D. Spontaneous
action potential frequency in absence of current injection. E. Latency to first spike following
injection of positive current. F. Average threshold to first spike obtained from positive current

injection. *G*. Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current. *p<0.05.

3.2.3 Properties of orexin neurons in 2wMWF access group

In orexin neurons from the rat groups given intermittent access to 1h HFD or chow three times a week for two weeks, resting membrane potential did not differ significantly between the control and HFD group (-46.0 \pm 3.7mV, n=19 cells from 4 rats and -47.6 \pm 3.2mV, n=23 cells from 4 rats, respectively, Fig. 17B, p>0.05, Student's t-test), and spontaneous action potential frequency was not different between the two groups (Fig. 17C, p>0.05, Student's t-test). Moreover, latency to first spike (Fig. 17D, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA), firing threshold (Fig. 17E, p>0.05, Student's t-test) and action potential frequency (Fig. 17F, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injections did not differ significantly between the groups.

Additionally, a current ramp was used to further assess differences in the excitability of orexin neurons. There was a significant difference in rheobase between control and HFD groups (Fig. 18B, p<0.05, Student's t-test), but there was no difference in action potential frequency during the ramps (Figure 18C, p>0.05, Student's t-test).



Figure 17. 2wMWF intermittent access to HFD does not alter orexin neuron excitability

A. Above: Representative traces for orexin neurons following application of current steps. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current injection protocol for traces above. *B.* Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. *C.* Spontaneous action potential frequency in absence of current injection. *D.* Latency to first spike following injection of positive current. *E.* Average threshold to first spike obtained from positive current injection. *F.* Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current.



Figure 18. More positive current is necessary to invoke the first action potential in orexin neurons following 2wMWF intermittent access to HFD

A. *Above*: Representative trace for chow orexin neuron following application of current ramp. *Middle:* Representative trace for HFD orexin neuron following application of current ramp. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current ramp protocol for orexin neurons. **B.** Rheobase for orexin neurons in 2wMWF chow and HFD groups. Rheobase was defined as the minimum current necessary to elicit an action potential. **C.** Action potential frequency of orexin neurons following application of current ramp. *p<0.05.

3.2.4 Properties of orexin neurons in male and female 6wMWF access groups

In male rats that underwent 6 weeks of three weekly intermittent access to HFD, the resting membrane potential of orexin neurons was significantly hyperpolarized compared to the control group (HFD: -50.2 \pm 1.1, n=6 cells from 4 rats, control: -46.8 \pm 0.6, n=13cells from 4 rats, Fig. 19B, p<0.01, Student's t-test) although no difference in spontaneous action potential frequency was found (Fig. 19C, p>0.05, Student's t-test). There was no overall difference in latency to 1st spike in orexin neurons between control and HFD males (Fig. 19D, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). Multiple comparisons revealed that latency to first spike was longer in orexin neurons from the HFD group at 50pA current injection compared to control condition (p<0.01). There were no significant differences in the threshold between the two groups (Fig. 19E, p>0.05, Student's t-test) or frequency of action potentials elicited by positive current injections (Fig. 19F, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; no interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA).

In females, there was also a significant difference in the resting membrane potential of orexin neurons between control (-46.51 \pm 0.6570, n=19 cells from 4 rats) and HFD (-48.32 \pm 0.6159, n=14 cells from 3 rats, Fig. 20B, p<0.05, Student's t-test). However, there were no differences in spontaneous action potential frequency (Fig. 20C, p>0.05, Student's t-test), latency to first spike (Fig. 20D, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA), threshold (Fig. 20E, p>0.05, Student's t-test), or elicited action potential frequency (Fig. 20F, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA).

We also analyzed the membrane resistance of orexin neurons in males and females in the 6wMWF groups. In orexin neurons from male rats, there was a significant negative correlation between resting membrane potential and membrane resistance, such that the more hyperpolarized the cells were, the higher the membrane resistance (Fig. 21A, R^2 =0.2091, p<0.05, linear regression). However, there was no significant difference in membrane resistance between cells from chow and HFD males (p>0.05, Student's t-test). In orexin neurons from female rats, there was no correlation between resting membrane potential and membrane resistance (Fig. 21B, R^2 =0.0012, p>0.05, linear regression). Nonetheless, there was a difference in membrane resistance between cells from chow and HFD females (p<0.01, Student's t-test). This may indicate an inherent difference between male and female orexin neurons, where channels closing hyperpolarize male orexin neurons regardless of diet, and intermittent HFD opens channels that hyperpolarize female orexin neurons.

Overall, these results suggest that long-term, but not short-term binge-like feeding on HFD decreases orexin neuron excitability by hyperpolarizing them, and this may affect males and females via distinct mechanisms.


Figure 19. 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD hyperpolarizes and decreases excitability of orexin neurons in male rats

A. Above: Representative traces for orexin neurons following application of current steps. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current injection protocol for traces above. *B.* Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. *C.* Spontaneous action potential frequency in absence of current injection. *D.* Latency to first spike following injection of positive current. *E.* Average threshold to first spike obtained from positive current injection. *F.* Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current. *p<0.05.



Figure 20. 6wMWF intermittent HFD access hyperpolarizes orexin neurons in female rats

A. Above: Representative traces for orexin neurons following application of current steps. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current injection protocol for traces above. *B.* Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. *C.* Spontaneous action potential frequency in absence of current injection. *D.* Latency to first spike following injection of positive current. *E.* Average threshold to first spike obtained from positive current injection. *F.* Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current. *p<0.05.



Figure 21. The correlation between resting membrane potential and membrane resistance by diet condition differs between sexes in 6wMWF groups

A. Scatterplot illustrating the negative correlation between resting membrane potential and membrane resistance in orexin neurons from male rats. *B*. Scatterplot illustrating that there is no correlation between resting membrane potential and membrane resistance in orexin neurons from female rats.

3.2.5 Properties of orexin neurons in adolescent versus adult male controls

It is unknown whether the electrophysiological properties of orexin neurons undergo developmental changes between adolescence and adulthood. As such, it is possible that developmental changes may be interacting with the diet manipulation to affect orexin neurons. Therefore, we decided to compare the parameters of orexin neurons between control males in 1wDaily, 2wMWF and 6wMWF conditions that are four, six and eleven weeks of age, respectively. There was no significant difference in resting membrane potential (Fig. 21A, p<0.05, Student's t-test) or spontaneous action potential frequency (Fig. 21B, p<0.05, Student's t-test). There were no overall differences between the groups in latency to 1st spike (Fig. 21C, effect of age, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA,) although multiple comparisons showed the latency to first spike was longer in 1wDaily compared to 2wMWF controls at 50pA current injection (p>0.05). There were no significant differences in threshold (Fig. 21D, p<0.05, Student's t-test) and elicited action potential frequency (Fig. 21E, effect of age, p<0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA) were not significantly different between the three groups. This demonstrates that there may be developmental changes in orexin neurons' electrophysiology between these ages.



Figure 22. Orexin neuron activity may undergo developmental changes in rats from 4 to 11 weeks of age in male rats

A. Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. *B*. Spontaneous action potential frequency in absence of current injection. *C*. Latency to first spike following injection of positive current. *D*. Average threshold to first spike obtained from positive current injection. *E*. Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current. *p<0.05.

3.2.6 Identification of MCH Neurons

Since we found a change in the resting membrane potential of orexin neurons following 6wMWF feeding, we chose to investigate MCH neurons since they are located in similar regions and also associated with binge eating and addictive behaviors (Haemmerle et al., 2015; Karlsson et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2005). Morphologically, they are similar to orexin neurons in size, in that they are typically larger than other cell types located in the same areas. Our lab has shown previously that MCH neurons display unique electrophysiological responses to a series of hyperpolarizing and depolarizing current step pulses that are distinct to those seen in orexin neurons in animals from 3 to 4 weeks old (Alberto et al., 2011; Belanger-Willoughby et al., 2016). In the present study, we found the same characteristics in older animals, including a lack of I_h upon hyperpolarizing currents, accommodation of action potential frequency in response to depolarizing currents, and no spontaneous activity at baseline (Fig. 22A). Out of 49 cells that showed these characteristics, 43 cells were confirmed to be immunopositive for MCH peptide (87.8% success, Fig. 22B). The other 6 cells were not successfully filled with biocytin, but were included in the analysis based on their electrophysiological responses to hyperpolarizing and depolarizing currents, which were typical of MCH neurons.

3.2.7 MCH neuron properties in six-week males and females

In MCH neurons from male 6wMWF groups, the resting membrane potential was not significantly different between control and HFD (-59.5 \pm 4.0mV, n=17 cells from 4 rats, and - 57.1 \pm 4.9mV, n=10 cells from 3 rats, respectively, Fig. 22C, p>0.05, Student's t-test). Likewise, the latency to first spike (Fig. 22D, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA), action potential threshold (Fig. 22E, p>0.05, Student's t-test) and the frequency of elicited action potentials also revealed no significant

differences (Fig. 22F, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA). A current ramp from 0pA to 200pA revealed no significant differences in rheobase (Fig. 23B, p>0.05, Student's t-test) or action potential frequency (Fig. 23C, p>0.05, Student's t-test), between groups.

Similarly, in MCH neurons from the female 6wMWF group, there was no significant difference in the resting membrane potential of MCH neurons between control (-57.5 \pm 2.5mV, n=10 cells from 3 rats) and HFD (-59.5 \pm 1.6mV, n=11 cells from 3 rats, Fig. 24B p>0.05, Student's t-test). Likewise, there was no difference between the two groups in the latency to first spike (Fig. 24C, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current injection, p<0.0001; interaction, p>0.05; two-way ANOVA), the threshold to fire (Fig. 24D, p>0.05, Student's t-test) or frequency of elicited action potentials (Fig. 24E, effect of diet, p>0.05; main effect of current ramp from 0 pA to 200 pA revealed no significant differences between rheobase (Fig. 25B, p>0.05, Student's t-test) or action potential frequency (Fig, 25C, p>0.05, Student's t-test).



Figure 23. 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD has no apparent effect on MCH neuron excitability in male rats

A. Above: Representative traces for MCH neurons following application of current steps. *Below:*Diagram illustrating current injection protocol for traces above. *B.* Fluorescent
immunohistochemistry showing neuron labelled with biocytin, MCH peptide and overlay. *C.*Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. *D.* Latency to
first spike following injection of positive current. *E.* Average threshold to first spike obtained

from positive current injection. *F*. Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current. Chow (n=19), HFD (n=10).



Figure 24. Current ramps do not reveal any effect of 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD on MCH neuron excitability in male rats

A. *Above*: Representative trace for male chow MCH neuron following application of current ramp. *Middle:* Representative trace for male HFD MCH neuron following application of current ramp. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current ramp protocol for MCH neurons, showing a gradual current injection from 0pA to 200pA. **B.** Rheobase for male MCH neurons in 6wMWF chow and HFD groups. **C.** Action potential frequency of MCH neurons following application of current ramp.



Figure 25. 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD has no apparent effect on MCH neuron excitability in female rats

A. Above: Representative traces for MCH neurons following application of current steps. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current injection protocol for traces above. *B.* Resting membrane potential averaged from nine traces before current injection. *C.* Latency to first spike following injection of positive current. *D.* Average threshold to first spike obtained from positive current injection. *E.* Elicited action potential frequency following application of positive current. Chow (n=10), HFD (n=12).



Figure 26. Current ramps do not reveal any effect of 6wMWF intermittent access to HFD on MCH neuron excitability in female rats

A. *Above*: Representative trace for female chow MCH neuron following application of current ramp. *Middle:* Representative trace for female HFD MCH neuron following application of current ramp. *Below:* Diagram illustrating current ramp protocol for MCH neurons. **B.** Rheobase for female MCH neurons in 6wMWF chow and HFD groups. **C.** Action potential frequency of MCH neurons following application of current ramp.

Chapter 4 - Discussion

The current thesis had two main goals. The first was to characterize how intermittent palatable diet access affected the feeding behavior of rats. We found that two palatable diets, one high in fat and sugar (WD) and one high in fat (HFD), produced different intensities of binge-like behavior, and that three intermittent HFD access paradigms with different intervals and number of access produced a similar degree of binge-like behavior. Furthermore, there were no significant differences in binge-like behavior between any HFD rats, indicating similar binge behavior between adolescent and adult, and male and female rats. The second goal was to uncover any potential effects that these feeding paradigms had on orexigenic neurons of the lateral hypothalamus. Short-term palatable diet access (6 intermittent episodes), either daily or three times per week appeared to have no effect on the excitability of orexin neurons. Conversely, long-term intermittent HFD access (total of 18 episodes, three times a week) hyperpolarized orexin neurons, but not MCH neurons.

4.1 Induction of binge-like feeding following intermittent access

The definition of binge eating in animal models is poorly defined and often varies between studies (Avena et al., 2008 chapter; Corwin et al., 2008). In the current study, food intake during a 1h exposure was significantly higher in HFD and WD rats compared to chow controls, and accounted for a significant proportion of the animals' total daily caloric intake. Similar results have been found for other high-fat food exposure paradigms, in which animals consumed approximately 50% of their daily calories in 1h (Wojnicki et al., 2006) or 2h (Corwin et al., 1998; Dimitriou et al., 2000). This can be considered binge-like feeding (Babbs et al., 2012; Corwin, 2004; Corwin et al., 1998), as it covers the DSM-5's criterion of eating a much larger amount of food in a shorter period of time than would be expected (American Psychiatric

Association, 2013). This model of intermittent exposure to palatable diets has the benefit of being more clinically relevant to cases of eating disorders that feature normal eating habits and restricted intake of palatable foods, followed by binges on palatable foods when they are consumed, compared with studies involving stress or total food restriction to induce binge-like feeding.

4.2 **1wDaily intermittent access**

All three groups of rats, chow control, HFD and WD exposed rats, consumed similar amounts of total daily calories, including ad libitum chow and food consumed during 1h food exposure. This is in agreement with other studies of daily binge-like feeding showing that chow control groups and palatable diet access groups consume a similar amount of total calories (Avena et al., 2008; Corwin et al., 1998). The HFD group consumed less calories from chow compared to both chow control and WD groups, which may be a compensatory mechanism. Animals sometimes decrease their chow intake in response to binge-like feeding to maintain a homeostatic baseline of caloric intake (Avena et al., 2008; Corwin et al., 1998; Vickers et al., 2015). That the HFD but not WD group reduced chow intake is likely due to the calories consumed from the diets; HFD rats consumed more calories during the intermittent feeding than WD group, so they decreased their baseline chow intake to accommodate for the extra calories. This is dissimilar to previous research indicating that access to a sweet-fat diet results in a decrease in chow intake (Berner et al., 2008). Since rats consumed more calories from the HFD than the WD, this suggests that HFD produced greater binge-like feeding. It is possible that palatability or physical factors of the foods, including the texture or taste, or the higher caloric density of HFD compared to chow (5.24kcal/g for HFD compared to 3.16kcal/g for chow, and 4.49kcal/g for WD) may have contributed to this observed difference, as other studies that used

high fat and sweet-fat diets have not reported a difference in binge-like feeding between these styles of diets (Berner et al., 2008; Bocarsly et al., 2011). However, it is possible that high fat versus high sugar and fat diets have different mechanisms governing their ingestion. For example, Berner and colleagues have found that administration of baclofen, a GABA_B receptor agonist, preferentially decreases binge-like intake of a fatty food, has no effect on sucrose bingeing, and increases intake of a sugary, fatty diet (Berner et al., 2008).

4.3 Three different intermittent access models produce similar binge-like behavior

Previous studies have demonstrated that the more limited the access is to a palatable fatty food, the more it is consumed when it becomes available. Corwin et al. (1998) compared adult male rats on their consumption of Crisco when it was available, daily for 2h, three times per week for 2h or *ad libitum*, and found that the highest rates of consumption occurred when it was available only three times a week. In a paradigm comparing a chow-only group to three schedules of shortening access, including 2h daily, 2h MWF or *ad libitum*, total calories consumed during the 2h exposures increased above control and *ad libitum* by the second week. Additionally, during the exposure period calorie consumption in the 2h MWF group surpassed that of the 2h daily group by the end of the second week (Dimitriou et al., 2000). These findings are in contrast to our own, where both the 1wDaily and 2wMWF groups consumed a similar proportion of their daily calories from HFD. Because this was the case, we wondered whether increasing the number of intermittent exposures would result in an increase in the proportion of HFD consumed. However, extending the intermittent exposures at a rate of 3 times a week for 6 weeks did not result in further increase in the procent of daily caloric intake from HFD.

Feeding behaviors appear to vary between other studies of binge eating as well. Davis and colleagues (2007) compared the daily caloric intake of a chow control group of rats with

groups given 2h access to Crisco or another HFD either daily or every 3 days, in addition to *ad libitum* chow and water. They found that the group given daily access consumed a similar number of calories as the chow group, whereas the group receiving access every 3 days consumed significantly more calories on the exposure day, and significantly less calories on the day following exposure to Crisco or HFD. Berner and colleagues (2008) compared a chow control group with rats given either *ad libitum* or 2h daily or MWF access to a sweet-fatty diet, and found their intake escalated over repeated exposures before plateauing in caloric intake by approximately the fourth exposure. However, in our study the MWF group consumed a similar number of calories on the subsequent days as the binge day. This illustrates that food intake between binge studies is variable and dependent upon specific methodology.

Specific variables may be able to account for these observed differences between studies, including our own. The intermittent diets used for our experiments were not identical to those used in others. For example, we used rodent-formulated sweet-fat and high-fat diets whereas in the experiments briefly discussed above, Corwin (1998) and Davis (2007) and colleagues used Crisco. In the current study, we used a 1h access to palatable diet paradigm, however Davis (2007) and Dimitriou (2000) used a 2h access paradigm. Finally, the time of day may have played a role. In our experiments, palatable diet access was given six hours before onset of the dark phase. In the experiment discussed above, Berner and colleagues (2008) provided their sweet-fat diet during the dark phase. Taken together, these methodological differences may account for these variations between the current study and the results cited from the literature.

4.4 Comparison of adolescent and adult male feeding behavior

Specific diets and feeding paradigms vary greatly between studies, though many studies consistently make use of older animals to study binge-like feeding. Our feeding paradigms started when rats were juvenile, between 21 to 28 days old and weighed between 40g to 100g. However, much of the literature referenced cite older ages, including 60 days (Corwin et al, 1998, Dimitriou et al., 2000), 90 days (Boggiano et al., 2007), or weights from 200g to 250g at the start of their studies. Bekker and colleagues (2014) compared two rat strains, one prone to overeating and obesity and one as a lean control, and compared the feeding behavior of adolescents (35-40 day old) and adults (105-115 days old) within and between these two strains. In their feeding paradigm, rats were given access to vanilla Ensure, a sweet-fat liquid meal replacement. They found that both strains of adolescent rats increased their intake of Ensure more than the adult rats following repeated exposures. As for chow intake, adult rats of both strains decrease their chow intake to compensate for excess caloric intake from bingeing, whereas both groups of adolescent rats consume more chow weekly after repeated exposures to Ensure. Our results are mostly inconsistent with this finding. In none of our experiments did the WD or HFD binge eating groups increase 24h chow intake relative to their respective control groups. Neither the 2wMWF nor the 6wMWF male or female HFD rats consumed a different amount of total calories on the HFD exposure day compared to the day after. Differences in feeding behavior between different strains of rats, and age at the start of feeding manipulation may be able to account for these differences.

4.5 Comparison of male and female binge-like behavior

The human incidence of eating disorders is generally higher in females than males (Hudson et al., 2007; Kessler et al., 2013). Additionally, in a study comparing adult male and

female rats on MWF consumption of a sweet-fat diet, female rats were found be significantly more likely to be binge-eating prone compared to male rats (Klump et al., 2013). Another study classified Sprague-Dawley males as being resistant to binge eating, whereas Sprague-Dawley females were classified as being prone to binge eating (Hildebrandt et al., 2014). Therefore, we compared the effect of intermittent feeding paradigm on female and male rats using the 6wMWF feeding paradigm. However, we did not find any differences in the magnitude of binge-like feeding in the 6wMWF HFD female group compared to the male group. While the notion of binge-eating proneness versus resistance may represent useful phenotypic or genotypic distinction between animals, the number of animals used in our studies was too low to reliably distinguish between these feeding phenotypes. Our findings indicate that male and female rats engage in similar binge-eating behavior when exposed to our specific feeding paradigm.

While eating disorders are often diagnosed more in woman than in men, some studies suggest that there are more similarities than differences between the sexes in binge-eating behavior. Striegel-Moore and colleagues found that significantly more women than men met the most conservative criteria for binge-eating, although when partial diagnoses were included this only accounted for one more female case of binge-eating for every 50 women compared to every 50 men (Striegel-Moore et al., 2009). Thus, it may be that men are underrepresented in the statistical analysis of binge eating. The current study may reflect this, as we found no sex differences in binge-like behavior or frequency between male and female rats.

4.6 Intermittent feeding and body weight

Because binge-eating is often a risk factor or comorbid condition with obesity, we examined the weight gain of rats that experienced intermittent HFD exposure-induced binge eating, and compared to that of animals that did not binge eat. There were no significant

differences between any of the control and HFD groups, which is in agreement with previous studies. A possible reason for this may be partly due to the macronutrient levels in the diets provided, as intermittent high fat or sweet diets alone do not promote weight gain (Avena et al., 2008; Corwin et al., 1998; Dimitriou et al., 2000), although sweet-fat diets do (Berner et al., 2008). Thus, it may be possible that the WD used during our 1wDaily paradigm, which is a sweet-fat diet, could have promoted weight gain if it were available for the same duration as our 6wMWF paradigm. In many binge-eating models animals reduce their calorie intake following an intermittent feeding episode as we have seen in our study, which maintains calorie intake, and thus body weight, similar to that of controls. These animal models thus may resemble an aspect of certain forms of binge-eating seen in human populations where people restrict their food intake in between binges in order to maintain an ideal weight.

4.7 Orexin neurons of young and adult rats exhibit similar electrophysiological properties

Our lab has repeatedly demonstrated that orexin neurons from young rodents (3 to 4 week old) can be identified by their unique responses to hyperpolarizing and depolarizing current injections (Belanger-Willoughby et al., 2016; Linehan et al., 2015; Parsons et al., 2012). The work in this thesis has demonstrated that the same electrophysiological characteristics are seen in orexin neurons from older animals (10 to 11 weeks old), further solidifying that these are reliable characteristics for identifying these unique neural populations in rats.

Furthermore, comparing the electrophysiological properties between four, six and eleven week old rats in the chow condition, we found that there were no significant differences in any of the parameters we measured, except for a difference in latency to first spike at the 50pA injection between four and six week old rats. This difference was not found between the four and eleven week old rats, thus it may be possible that it reflects a transient developmental change. Future studies may be able to further examine other developmental changes that occur in orexin neurons, as these may be responsible for changes in locomotory or feeding behaviors that are necessary for physical or behavioral development.

4.8 Long-term, but not short-term HFD intermittent access hyperpolarizes orexin neurons

Despite the fact that there were no observable differences in the binge-like behavior between the 1wDaily, 2- and 6wMWF groups in terms of the proportion of total calories consumed from HFD, our results suggest that there is a time-dependent change in the excitability of orexin neurons. Specifically, there are no changes in the resting membrane potential or spontaneous action potential frequency of orexin neurons in the short-term access paradigm (1wDaily and 2wMWF), whereas orexin neurons are hyperpolarized following long-term intermittent access to HFD. This effect was seen in both the male and female 6-week MWF rats. This suggests that the changes in orexin neurons in response to intermittent HFD access only occur with long-term, repeated exposures.

These results may be in conflict with a number of other studies showing that orexin neuron activity is related to the consumption of palatable foods or appetitive substances. In fact, some have reported that binge-like consumption of either palatable foods or other salient reinforcers such as ethanol result in an increase in orexin activity or expression. Orexin mRNA expression was found to be increased 30, 60 and 90 minutes following a sucrose solution binge compared to controls that drank water (Furudono et al., 2006). Likewise, an increase in orexin and OX2 receptor mRNA in the paraventricular nucleus of the thalamus was found following ethanol consumption (Barson et al., 2015), and long-term fructose bingeing in food-deprived rats

resulted in an increase in orexin-A release and orexin activity as measured by co-localization of c-fos (Rorabaugh et al., 2014).

However, decreases in orexin expression have also been reported following consumption of sweet solutions and ethanol. Using drinking-in-the-dark procedures, an alternative method of inducing binge-like consumption, up to four exposures to sucrose or saccharin solutions, but not water, decreased orexin mRNA expression in the lateral hypothalamus (Alcaraz-Iborra et al., 2014; Carvajal et al., 2015). Furthermore, short-term ethanol or sucrose bingeing also decreased the number of orexin-A labelled neurons in the lateral hypothalamus (Olney et al., 2015). However, of note, the authors of these studies suggest that the observed decrease in orexin expression may reflect a temporary, adaptive decrease in orexin production following increased activity that occurs post-ingestion of these substances. Whether this decrease in orexin expression is analogous to the hyperpolarization observed in the current study remains unknown.

It is apparent that short- and long-term bingeing paradigms may affect orexin neurons differently. For example, chronic ethanol consumption has been shown to decrease orexin mRNA expression (Morganstern et al., 2010), and chronic *ad libitum* HFD consumption reduces the number of orexin-A positive neurons in mice (Nobunaga et al., 2014). These observations may agree with the hyperpolarization of orexin neurons we observed in the long-term bingeing groups but not the short-term groups. Together, these studies may highlight the difference in how orexin neurons respond to salient, rewarding stimuli in short-term versus the long-term bingeing.

4.9 No observable effect of intermittent HFD on MCH neurons

We found no observable effect of intermittent HFD on MCH neuron activity. Levels of MCH peptide have been shown to be unaffected by chronic HFD consumption (Nobunaga et al.,

2014), but elevated levels are found in rats prone to overconsuming HFD (Morganstern et al, 2010), and higher levels of blood triglycerides following a fatty meal are positively correlated with MCH peptide levels (Karatayev et al., 2009). Orexin and MCH neurons are known to be reciprocally connected (Guan et al., 2002), and to project to and from some of the same brain regions including the nucleus accumbens (Haemmerle et al., 2015; Mukai et al., 2009) and arcuate nucleus (Della-Zuana et al., 2002; Yamanaka et al., 2000). It is possible that these intermittent feeding paradigms are affecting the activity of these other nuclei as well. If long-term intermittent palatable food access is affecting orexin neurons, it is possible that MCH neurons are being modulated indirectly in some ways that are not evident in the parameters we examined. Nevertheless, the difference in the effects observed between orexin and MCH neurons despite their proximity towards one another, reciprocal connections and shared efferents highlights the complexity of neural networks governing food intake and motivated behaviors.

4.10 Potential mechanisms of altered orexin activity

The mechanism underlying the hyperpolarization of orexin neurons observed in these experiments remains unknown. Some possibilities underlying this change include alterations in presynaptic excitatory or inhibitory transmission or postsynaptic changes including modulation of receptors, channels or ionic pumps. One speculation is that intermittent palatable food access promotes changes in the brain similar to those of drug abuse, hence the popularity of the term "food addiction." Alterations in the dopaminergic system have been noted in drug addicted and obese individuals, as both conditions show a decrease in the function of dopamine D2 receptors (Noble, 2000; Stice et al., 2009), which has also been demonstrated in obesity-prone rats (Geiger et al., 2009). Furthermore, D2 receptor activation has been shown inhibit GABAergic transmission to orexin neurons (Linehan et al., 2015). It may be possible that the chronic

downregulation of D2 receptors that occurs in addictive states, obesity or binge-eating results in an increase in GABA signaling to orexin neurons, possibly contributing to the hyperpolarization of orexin neurons. To test this possibility, future studies could measure dopamine-induced changes in inhibitory transmission onto orexin neurons under feeding conditions that induce binge eating.

4.11 Physiological implications of decreased orexin activity

The administration of orexin (Choi et al., 2010) or orexin receptor antagonists (Cason & Aston-Jones, 2014; Choi et al., 2010; Piccoli et al., 2012) in control animals has been found to increase and decrease palatable food intake, respectively. However, orexin neurons mediate a number of other physiological behaviors, including mood, sleep-wake cycles, arousal and motivation. Thus, the decrease in orexin excitability seen in the HFD group may have more effects than on feeding behavior. It is possible that this group of rats may exhibit lower levels of arousal or locomotion, as can be observed with high doses of orexin receptor antagonists (Winrow et al., 2011). Orexin deficiency results in the sleep disorder narcolepsy (Chemelli et al., 1999), so hyperpolarization of these cells may result in a hypersomnolent phenotype compared to controls. Those with binge-eating disorders have higher rates of mental illness, most notably depression, which results in lower levels of arousal, sleep problems and decreased motivation and sensations of pleasure (DSM-5, 2013; Hudson et al., 2007). It is possible that a decrease in orexin excitability in response to long-term binge eating may be at least partly responsible for these effects in humans suffering from binge-eating.

4.12 Limitations of the current study

The current study was conducted in order to assess the effects of intermittent palatable diet access on orexigenic neurons in the lateral hypothalamus. It was conducted in light of the deleterious effects that binge-eating has on physical and mental health in human populations. However, binge-eating has many different presentations in eating disorders, and a single animal model cannot represent the variability of the human conditions. As our paradigms did not make use of food restriction, stress, or other variables that are commonly present in various eating disorders, whether the effect on orexin or MCH neurons remains the same or not under different binge-inducing conditions is worth exploring in the future. This would help to better understand the complex interplay between binge eating and the activity of these neurons.

The current studies used a diet high in fat to promote binge-like food intake. Although the WD used in our 1wDaily paradigm represents a sweet-fat diet, our rats did not binge on this as much as the HFD. Regardless, other studies have made use of sweet or sweet-fat diets to induce bingeing behavior, and a sweet-fat diet may more accurately represent the kinds of foods that people commonly binge on. As mentioned previously, chronic HFD reduced the total number of orexin-A labelled neurons in mouse hypothalamus (Nobunaga et al., 2014) whereas chronic fructose bingeing increased orexin neuron activity (Rorabaugh et al., 2014). Studying the effect of binge-like feeding of a sweet-fat diet on orexin activity may bridge the gap between these studies.

The current study made extensive use of patch-clamp electrophysiology, using coronal brain slices. This procedure necessarily severs many of the connections between the neural populations of the brain, which may not be representative of the environment of these neural populations *in vivo*. However, this also suggests that the differences observed in orexin neurons

are intrinsic to these neurons, or due to changes in the local network or from intact synaptic connections from more distal brain regions. This is beneficial in order to identify the possible mechanisms by which these cellular changes are occurring.

4.13 Conclusion

To the best of my knowledge, this thesis represents the first electrophysiological analyses of orexin and MCH neurons in an animal model of binge eating. The results suggest that longterm repetition of intermittent access to high fat diet decreases the activity of orexin neurons, supporting past research describing a decrease in orexin peptide following long-term binge-like consumption of palatable foods or other reinforcers. Orexin neurons participate in many physiological behaviors, so a decrease in their excitability associated with binge-eating may also result in impairments in many functions outside of food intake. These impairments may coincide with the symptoms found in comorbid mental illnesses often associated with binge-eating disorder, including major depression and anxiety disorders. While the specific roles orexin and MCH play in the development or maintenance of binge eating remain unknown, future research on these neural populations may provide unique treatment options for binge eating.

Reference List

- Ágh, T., Kovács, G., Pawaskar, M., Supina, D., Inotai, A., & Vokó, Z. (2015). Epidemiology, health-related quality of life and economic burden of binge eating disorder: a systematic literature review. *Eating and Weight Disorders : EWD*, 20(1), 1–12. http://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-014-0173-9
- Ahima, R. S., Prabakaran, D., Mantzoros, C., Qu, D., Lowell, B., Maratos-Flier, E., & Flier, J. S. (1996). Role of leptin in the neuroendocrine response to fasting. *Nature*. http://doi.org/10.1038/382250a0
- Alberto, C. O., Trask, R. B., & Hirasawa, M. (2011). Dopamine acts as a partial agonist for α2A adrenoceptor in melanin-concentrating hormone neurons. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *31*(29), 10671–10676. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6245-10.2011
- Alcaraz-Iborra, M., Carvajal, F., Lerma-Cabrera, J. M., Valor, L. M., & Cubero, I. (2014).
 Binge-like consumption of caloric and non-caloric palatable substances in ad libitum-fed
 C57BL/6J mice: Pharmacological and molecular evidence of orexin involvement. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 272, 93–99. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.06.049
- Alon, T. (2006). Late-Onset Leanness in Mice with Targeted Ablation of Melanin Concentrating Hormone Neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(2), 389–397. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1203-05.2006
- Alsiö, J., Olszewski, P. K., Levine, A. S., & Schioth, H. B. (2012). Feed-forward mechanisms:
 Addiction-like behavioral and molecular adaptations in overeating. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, *33*(2), 127–139. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2012.01.002

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed). Arlington, VA; American Psychiatric Publishing.
- Amin, T., & Mercer, J. G. (2016). Hunger and Satiety Mechanisms and Their Potential Exploitation in the Regulation of Food Intake. *Current Obesity Reports*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-015-0184-5
- Anand, B. K., & Brobeck, J. R. (1951). Hypothalamic control of food intake in rats and cats. *The Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine*, 24(2), 123–140.
- Arnold, L. M., McElroy, S. L., Hudson, J. I., Welge, J. A., Bennett, A. J., & Keck, P. E. (2002).
 A placebo-controlled, randomized trial of fluoxetine in the treatment of binge-eating disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *63*(11), 1028–1033.
 http://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.v63n1113
- Avena, N. M. (2010). The study of food addiction using animal models of binge eating. *Appetite*, 55(3), 734–737. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.09.010
- Avena, N. M., Bocarsly, M. E., Rada, P., Kim, A., & Hoebel, B. G. (2008). After daily bingeing on a sucrose solution, food deprivation induces anxiety and accumbens
 dopamine/acetylcholine imbalance. *Physiology and Behavior*, *94*(3), 309–315.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2008.01.008
- Avena, N. M., Rada, P., & Hoebel, B. G. (2008). Evidence for sugar addiction: Behavioral and neurochemical effects of intermittent, excessive sugar intake. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(1), 20–39. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2007.04.019

Avena, N. M., Rada, P., Moise, N., & Hoebel, B. G. (2006). Sucrose sham feeding on a binge schedule releases accumbens dopamine repeatedly and eliminates the acetylcholine satiety response. *Neuroscience*, 139(3), 813–820.

http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.12.037

- Babbs, R. K., Wojnicki, F. H. E., & Corwin, R. L. W. (2012). Assessing binge eating. An analysis of data previously collected in bingeing rats. *Appetite*, 59(2), 478–482. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.05.022
- Bake, T., Murphy, M., Morgan, D. G. A., & Mercer, J. G. (2014). Large, binge-type meals of high fat diet change feeding behaviour and entrain food anticipatory activity in mice. *Appetite*, 77, 60–71. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.02.020
- Barson, J. R., Ho, H. T., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2015). Anterior thalamic paraventricular nucleus is involved in intermittent access ethanol drinking: Role of orexin receptor 2. *Addiction Biology*, 20(3), 469–481. http://doi.org/10.1111/adb.12139
- Barson, J. R., Morganstern, I., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2013). Review Article Complementary Roles of Orexin and Melanin-Concentrating Hormone in Feeding Behavior, *2013*.
- Beaulieu, J.-M., & Gainetdinov, R. R. (2011). The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 63(1), 182–217. http://doi.org/10.1124/pr.110.002642.182
- Bekker, L., Barnea, R., Brauner, A., & Weller, A. (2014). Adolescent rats are more prone to binge eating behavior: A study of age and obesity as risk factors. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 270, 108–111. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.04.050

- Belanger-Willoughby, N., Linehan, V., & Hirasawa, M. (2016). Thermosensing mechanisms and their impairment by high-fat diet in orexin neurons. *Neuroscience*, 324, 82–91. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.03.003
- Bello, N. T., & Hajnal, A. (2010). Dopamine and binge eating behaviors. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.*, 97(1), 25–33. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2010.04.016.Dopamine
- Berg, J., Tymoczko, J. & Stryer, L. (2002). *Biochemistry*. (5th ed.). New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.
- Berner, L. a, Avena, N. M., & Hoebel, B. G. (2008). Bingeing, self-restriction, and increased body weight in rats with limited access to a sweet-fat diet. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)*, *16*(9), 1998–2002. http://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.328
- Blundell, J. E., & Finlayson, G. (2004). Is susceptibility to weight gain characterized by homeostatic or hedonic risk factors for overconsumption? *Physiology and Behavior*, 82(1), 21–25. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.04.021
- Bocarsly, M. E., Berner, L. A., Hoebel, B. G., & Avena, N. M. (2011). Rats that binge eat fatrich food do not show somatic signs or anxiety associated with opiate-like withdrawal:
 Implications for nutrient-specific food addiction behaviors. *Physiology and Behavior*, *104*(5), 865–872. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.05.018
- Boggiano, M. M., Artiga, a I., Pritchett, C. E., Chandler-Laney, P. C., Smith, M. L., & Eldridge, a J. (2007). High intake of palatable food predicts binge-eating independent of susceptibility to obesity: an animal model of lean vs obese binge-eating and obesity with and without binge-eating. *International Journal of Obesity (2005)*, *31*(9), 1357–1367. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0803614

- Brobeck, J. R., Tepperman, J., & Long, C. N. H. (1943). Experimental hypothalamic hyerphaga in the albino rat. *Yale J Biol Med.*, *15*(6), 831–853.
- Carvajal, F., Alcaraz-Iborra, M., Lerma-Cabrera, J. M., Valor, L. M., de la Fuente, L., Sanchez-Amate, M. del C., & Cubero, I. (2015). Orexin receptor 1 signaling contributes to ethanol binge-like drinking: Pharmacological and molecular evidence. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 287, 230–237. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.03.046
- Cason, A. M., & Aston-Jones, G. (2014). Role of orexin/hypocretin in conditioned sucroseseeking in female rats. *Neuropharmacology*, 86(1), 97–102. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.07.007
- Cassin, S. E., & von Ranson, K. M. (2007). Is binge eating experienced as an addiction? *Appetite*, 49(3), 687–690. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2007.06.012
- Chambers, J., Ames, R. S., Bergsma, D., Muir, a, Fitzgerald, L. R., Hervieu, G., ... Sarau, H. M. (1999). Melanin-concentrating hormone is the cognate ligand for the orphan G-proteincoupled receptor SLC-1. *Nature*, 400(6741), 261–265. http://doi.org/10.1038/22313
- Chang, G.-Q., Karatayev, O., Ahsan, R., Gaysinskaya, V., Marwil, Z., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2007).
 Dietary fat stimulates endogenous enkephalin and dynorphin in the paraventricular nucleus: role of circulating triglycerides. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 292(2), E561–70. http://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00087.2006
- Chemelli, R. M., Willie, J. T., Sinton, C. M., Elmquist, J. K., Scammell, T., Lee, C., ... Yanagisawa, M. (1999). Narcolepsy in orexin knockout mice: Molecular genetics of sleep regulation. *Cell*, 98(4), 437–451. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81973-X

- Choi, D. L., Davis, J. F., Fitzgerald, M. E., & Benoit, S. C. (2010). The role of orexin-A in food motivation, reward-based feeding behavior and food-induced neuronal activation in rats. *Neuroscience*, 167(1), 11–20. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.02.002
- Chung, S., Hopf, F. W., Nagasaki, H., Li, C.-Y., Belluzzi, J. D., Bonci, A., & Civelli, O. (2009).
 The melanin-concentrating hormone system modulates cocaine reward. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(16), 6772–7.
 http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811331106
- Clegg, D. J., Air, E. L., Woods, S. C., Seeley, R. J., & Medical, C. (2014). Eating Elicited by Orexin-A, But Not Melanin- Concentrating Hormone, Is Opioid Mediated, *143*(March), 2995–3000.
- Colantuoni, C., Schwenker, J., McCarthy, J., Rada, P., Ladenheim, B., Cadet, J. L., ... Hoebel,
 B. G. (2001). Excessive sugar intake alters binding to dopamine and mu-opioid receptors in the brain. *Neuroreport*, *12*(16), 3549–3552. http://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-200111160-00035
- Colantuoni, C,. Rada, P., McCarthy, J., Patten, C., Avena, N., Chadeayne, A,. & Hoebel, B.(2002). Evidence that intermittent, excessive sugar intake causes endogenous opioiddependence. Obesity Research, 10(6), 478-488.
- Considine, R. V, Sinha, M. K., Heiman, M. L., Kriauciunas, A., Stephens, T. W., Nyce, M. R., ... Bauer, T. L. (1996). Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *334*(5), 292–295. http://doi.org/10.1097/00019616-199607000-00020

- Corwin, R. L. (2004). Binge-type eating induced by limited access in rats does not require energy restriction on the previous day. *Appetite*, 42(2), 139–142. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2003.08.010
- Corwin, R. L., & Buda-Levin, A. (2004). Behavioral models of binge-type eating. *Physiology and Behavior*, 82(1), 123–130. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.04.036
- Corwin, R. L., Wojnicki, F. H. E., Fisher, J. O., Dimitriou, S. G., Rice, H. B., & Young, M. A. (1998). Limited access to a dietary fat option affects ingestive behavior but not body composition in male rats. *Physiology and Behavior*, 65(3), 545–553. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00201-7
- Copeman, W. S. C. (1927). Frölich's Syndrome. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine*. (20)4, 317.
- Cowley, M., Smart, J. L., Rubinstein, M., Cerdán, M. G., Diano, S., Horvath, T. L., ... Low, M. J. (2001). Leptin activates anorexigenic POMC neurons through a neural network in the arcuate nucleus. *Nature*, 411(6836), 480–484. http://doi.org/10.1038/35078085
- Davis, C. (2014). Evolutionary and neuropsychological perspectives on addictive behaviors and addictive substances: relevance to the "food addiction" construct. *Substance Abuse and Rehabilitation*, *5*, 129–37. http://doi.org/10.2147/SAR.S56835
- Davis, C. (2015). The epidemiology and genetics of binge eating disorder (BED). *CNS Spectrums*, (August), 1–8. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852915000462
- Davis, J., Melhorn, S., Shurdak, J., Heiman, J., Tschop, M., Clegg, D., & Benoit, S. (2007). Comparison of hydrogenated vegetable shortening and nutritionally complete high-fat diet

on limited access-binge behavior in rats. *Physiology and Behavior*, 92(5), 924–930. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.06.024

- de Jong, J. W., Meijboom, K. E., Vanderschuren, L. J. M. J., & Adan, R. A. H. (2013). Low Control over Palatable Food Intake in Rats Is Associated with Habitual Behavior and Relapse Vulnerability: Individual Differences. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9), 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0074645
- de Lecea, L., Kilduff, T. S., Peyron, C., Gao, X., Foye, P. E., Danielson, P. E., ... Sutcliffe, J. G. (1998). The hypocretins: hypothalamus-specific peptides with neuroexcitatory activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 95(January), 322–327. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.1.322
- Della-Zuana, O., Presse, F., Ortola, C., Duhault, J., Nahon, J. L., & Levens, N. (2002). Acute and chronic administration of melanin-concentrating hormone enhances food intake and body weight in Wistar and Sprague-Dawley rats. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 26(10), 1289– 1295. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0802079
- Dimitriou, S. G., Rice, H. B., & Corwin, R. L. (2000). Effects of limited access to a fat option on food intake and body composition in female rats. *The International Journal of Eating Disorders*, (28)4, 436-445.
- Drewnowski, A., Mennella, J. A., Johnson, S. L., & Bellisle, F. (2012). Sweetness and Food Preference 1 – 3, (7), 1142–1148. http://doi.org/10.3945/jn.111.149575.1142S
- Dube, M. G., Kalra, S. P., & Kalra, P. S. (1999). Food intake elicited by central administration of orexins/hypocretins: Identification of hypothalamic sites of action. *Brain Research*, 842(2), 473–477. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01824-7

- Elias, C. F., Aschkenasi, C., Lee, C., Kelly, J., Ahima, R. S., Bjorbik, C., ... Elmquist, J. K. (1999). Leptin differentially regulates NPY and POMC neurons projecting to the lateral hypothalamic area. *Neuron*, 23(4), 775–786. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)80035-0
- Fadel, J., & Deutch, A. Y. (2002). Anatomical substrates of orexin-dopamine interactions:
 Lateral hypothalamic projections to the ventral tegmental area. *Neuroscience*, *111*(2), 379–387. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(02)00017-9
- Frye, C. A., & Demolar, G. L. (1994). Menstrual cycle and sex differences influence salt preference. *Physiology and Behavior*, 55(1), 193–197. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)90031-0
- Fu, L.-Y. (2004). Neuropeptide Y Inhibits Hypocretin/Orexin Neurons by Multiple Presynaptic and Postsynaptic Mechanisms: Tonic Depression of the Hypothalamic Arousal System. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(40), 8741–8751. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2268-04.2004
- Furudono, Y., Ando, C., Yamamoto, C., Kobashi, M., & Yamamoto, T. (2006). Involvement of specific orexigenic neuropeptides in sweetener-induced overconsumption in rats. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 175(2), 241–248. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2006.08.031
- Gao, X. B., & Van Den Pol, A. N. (2001). Melanin concentrating hormone depresses synaptic activity of glutamate and GABA neurons from rat lateral hypothalamus. *Journal of Physiology*, 533(1), 237–252. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.0237b.x
- García-Fuster, M. J., Parks, G. S., Clinton, S. M., Watson, S. J., Akil, H., & Civelli, O. (2012). The melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH) system in an animal model of depression-like

behavior. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 22(8), 607–613. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.12.001

- Gearhardt, A. N. (2009). Food addiction an examination for diagnostic criteria for dependence. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 3(1), 42–45. http://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0b013e318199cd20
- Gearhardt, N., A. White, M., & Potenza, M. (2011). Binge Eating Disorder and Food Addiction. *Current Drug Abuse Reviewse*, 4(3), 201–207. http://doi.org/10.2174/1874473711104030201
- Geiger, B. M., Haburcak, M., Avena, N. M., Moyer, M. C., Hoebel, B. G., & Pothos, E. N.
 (2009). Deficits of mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission in rat dietary obesity. NIH
 Public Access, *159*(4), 1193–1199. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2009.02.007.
- Geliebter, A., Yahav, E. K., Gluck, M. E., & Hashim, S. A. (2004). Gastric capacity, test meal intake, and appetitive hormones in binge eating disorder. *Physiology and Behavior*, 81(5), 735–740. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2004.04.014
- Georgescu, D., Zachariou, V., Barrot, M., Mieda, M., Willie, J. T., Eisch, A. J., ... DiLeone, R.
 J. (2003). Involvement of the lateral hypothalamic peptide orexin in morphine dependence and withdrawal. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 23(8), 3106–3111. http://doi.org/23/8/3106 [pii]
- Golden, P. L., Maccagnan, T. J., & Pardridge, W. M. (1997). Human blood-brain barrier leptin receptor. Binding and endocytosis in isolated human brain microvessels. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 99(1), 14–18. http://doi.org/10.1172/JCI119125

Gomori, A., Ishihara, A., Ito, M., Mashiko, S., Matsushita, H., Yumoto, M., ... Kanatani, A. (2003). Chronic intracerebroventricular infusion of MCH causes obesity in mice. Melanin-concentrating hormone. *American Journal of Physiology. Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 284(3), E583–8. http://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00350.2002

Gormsen, L. C., Gjedsted, J., Gjedde, S., Vestergaard, E. T., Christiansen, J. S., Jörgensen, J. O.,
... Müller, N. (2006). Free fatty acids decrease circulating ghrelin concentrations in
humans. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 154(5), 667–673.
http://doi.org/10.1530/eje.1.02146

- Guan, J.-L., Uehara, K., Lu, S., Wang, Q.-P., Funahashi, H., Sakurai, T., ... Shioda, S. (2002).
 Reciprocal synaptic relationships between orexin- and melanin-concentrating hormone-containing neurons in the rat lateral hypothalamus: a novel circuit implicated in feeding regulation. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders : Journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 26(12), 1523–1532.
 http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0802155
- Guo, Z. F., Ren, A. J., Zheng, X., Qin, Y. W., Cheng, F., Zhang, J., ... Zou, L. (2008). Different responses of circulating ghrelin, obestatin levels to fasting, re-feeding and different food compositions, and their local expressions in rats. *Peptides*, 29(7), 1247–1254. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2008.02.020
- Gyengesi, E., Liu, Z. W., D'Agostino, G., Gan, G., Horvath, T. L., Gao, X. B., & Diano, S.
 (2010). Corticosterone regulates synaptic input organization of POMC and NPY/AgRP neurons in adult mice. *Endocrinology*, *151*(11), 5395–5402. http://doi.org/10.1210/en.2010-0681
- Haemmerle, C. A. S., Campos, A. M. P., & Bittencourt, J. C. (2015). Melanin-concentrating hormone inputs to the nucleus accumbens originate from distinct hypothalamic sources and are apposed to GABAergic and cholinergic cells in the Long-Evans rat brain. *Neuroscience*, 289(January), 392–405. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.01.014
- Hagan, J. J., Leslie, R. A., Patel, S., Evans, M. L., Wattam, T. A., Holmes, S., ... Upton, N. (1999). Orexin A activates locus coeruleus cell firing and increases arousal in the rat. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(19), 10911–10916. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.19.10911
- Hagan, M. M., Chandler, P. C., Wauford, P. K., Rybak, R. J., & Oswald, K. D. (2003). The role of palatable food and hunger as trigger factors in an animal model of stress induced binge eating. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, *34*(2), 183–197. http://doi.org/10.1002/eat.10168
- Hagan, M. M., & Moss, D. E. (1997). Persistence of binge-eating patterns after a history of restriction with intermittent bouts of refeeding on palatable food in rats: Implications for bulimia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 22(4), 411–420. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199712)22:4<411::AID-EAT6>3.0.CO;2-P
- Hahn, J. D. (2010). Comparison of melanin-concentrating hormone and hypocretin/orexin peptide expression patterns in a current parceling scheme of the lateral hypothalamic zone. *Neuroscience Letters*, 468(1), 12–17. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2009.10.047
- Han, Y., Joe, Y., Seo, E., Lee, S. R., Park, M. K., Lee, H. J., & Kim, D. K. (2010). The hyperleptinemia and ObRb expression in hyperphagic obese rats. *Biochemical and*

Biophysical Research Communications, *394*(1), 70–74. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.02.104

- Hassani, O. K., Lee, M. G., & Jones, B. E. (2009). Melanin-concentrating hormone neurons discharge in a reciprocal manner to orexin neurons across the sleep-wake cycle. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106(7), 2418–2422. http://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811400106
- Hildebrandt, B. A., Klump, K. L., Racine, S. E., & Sisk, C. L. (2014). Differential strain vulnerability to binge eating behaviors in rats. *Physiology and Behavior*, 127, 81–86. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.01.012
- Hoebel, B. G. (1969). Feeding and self-stimulation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 157(2), 758–778.
- Hormes, J. M., & Timko, C. A. (2011). All cravings are not created equal. Correlates of menstrual versus non-cyclic chocolate craving. *Appetite*, 57(1), 1–5. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2011.03.008
- Hudson, J. I., Hiripi, E., Pope, H. G., & Kessler, R. C. (2007). The Prevalence and Correlates of Eating Disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Biological Psychiatry*, 61(3), 348–358. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.040
- Hussain, S. S., & Bloom, S. R. (2012). The regulation of food intake by the gut-brain axis: implications for obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, *37*(5), 625–633. http://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2012.93

- Huston, J. P. (1971). Relationship between motivating and rewarding stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus. *Physiology and Behavior*, 6(6), 711–716. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(71)90259-9
- Iemolo, A., Valenza, M., Tozier, L., Knapp, C. M., Kornetsky, C., Steardo, L., ... Cottone, P. (2012). Withdrawal from chronic, intermittent access to a highly palatable food induces depressive-like behavior in compulsive eating rats. *Behavioural Pharmacology*, 23(5-6), 593–602. http://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.0b013e328357697f
- Iwasaki, S., Inoue, K., Kiriike, N., & Hikiji, K. (2000). Effect of maternal separation on feeding behavior of rats in later life. *Physiology & Behavior*, 70(5), 551–556. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(00)00305-X
- Javaras, K. N., Pope, H. G., Lalonde, J. K., Roberts, J. L., Nillni, Y. I., Laird, N. M., ... Hudson,
 J. I. (2008). Co-occurrence of binge eating disorder with psychiatric and medical disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 69(2), 266–273.
 http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.4088/JCP.v69n0213
- Johnson, J. G., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). Health problems, impairment and illnesses associated with bulimia nervosa and binge eating disorder among primary care and obstetric gynaecology patients. *Psychological Medicine*, *31*(8), 1455–1466. http://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291701004640
- Karatayev, O., Gaysinskaya, V., Chang, G. Q., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2009). Circulating triglycerides after a high-fat meal: Predictor of increased caloric intake, orexigenic peptide expression, and dietary obesity. *Brain Research*, *1298*, 111–122. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2009.08.001

- Karlsson, C., Zook, M., Ciccocioppo, R., Gehlert, D. R., Thorsell, A., Heilig, M., & Cippitelli, A. (2012). Melanin-concentrating hormone receptor 1 (MCH1-R) antagonism: Reduced appetite for calories and suppression of addictive-like behaviors. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, *102*(3), 400–406. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2012.06.010
- Kawauchi, H., Kawazoe, I., Tsubokawa, M., Kishida, M., & Baker, B. I. (1983).
 Characterization of melanin-concentrating hormone in chum salmon pituitaries. *Nature*, 305(5932), 321–323. http://doi.org/10.1038/305321a0
- Kay, K., Parise, E. M., Lilly, N., & Williams, D. L. (2014). Hindbrain orexin 1 receptors influence palatable food intake, operant responding for food, and food-conditioned place preference in rats. *Psychopharmacology*, 231(2), 419–427. http://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-013-3248-9
- Kelley, A. E., Will, M. J., Steininger, T. L., Zhang, M., & Haber, S. N. (2003). Restricted daily consumption of a highly palatable food (chocolate Ensure ®) alters striatal enkephalin gene expression. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, *18*(9), 2592–2598. http://doi.org/10.1046/j.1460-9568.2003.02991.x
- Kennedy, C. G. (1953). The role of depot fat in hypothalamic control of food intake in the rat. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences (140)*909, 578-592.
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P. A., Chiu, W. T., Deitz, A. C., Hudson, J. I., Shahly, V., ... Xavier, M. (2013). The prevalence and correlates of binge eating disorder in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(9), 904–914. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.11.020

- Klump, K. L., Racine, S., Hildebrandt, B., & Sisk, C. L. (2013). Sex differences in binge eating patterns in male and female adult rats. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 46(7), 729–736. http://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22139
- Korotkova, T. M., Sergeeva, O. A., Eriksson, K. S., Haas, H. L., & Brown, R. E. (2003). Excitation of Ventral Tegmental Area Dopaminergic and Nondopaminergic Neurons by Orexins/Hypocretins. J. Neurosci., 23(1), 7–11. http://doi.org/23/1/7 [pii]
- Kunii, K., Yamanaka, A., Nambu, T., Matsuzaki, I., Goto, K., & Sakurai, T. (1999).
 Orexins/hypocretins regulate drinking behaviour. *Brain Research*, 842(1), 256–261.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01884-3
- Lawrence, A. J., Cowen, M. S., Yang, H.-J., Chen, F., & Oldfield, B. (2006). The orexin system regulates alcohol-seeking in rats. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 148(6), 752–9. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjp.0706789
- Lieberman, L. S. (2003). Dietary, evolutionary, and modernizing influences on the prevalence of type 2 diabetes. *Annual Review of Nutrition*, 23(1), 345–377. http://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.23.011702.073212
- Linehan, V., Trask, R. B., Briggs, C., Rowe, T. M., & Hirasawa, M. (2015). Concentrationdependent activation of dopamine receptors differentially modulates GABA release onto orexin neurons. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 42(3), 1976–1983. http://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.12967
- Lutter, M., & Nestler, E. J. (2009). Homeostatic and hedonic signals interact in the regulation of food intake. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *139*(3), 629–32. http://doi.org/10.3945/jn.108.097618

- Mathes, W. F., Brownley, K. A., Mo, X., & Bulik, C. M. (2009). The biology of binge eating. *Appetite*, 52(3), 545–553. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2009.03.005
- Mayer, J. (1955). Regulation of Energy Intake and the Body Weight: The Glucostatic Theory and the Lipostatic Hypothesis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *63*(1), 15–43. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1955.tb36543.x
- McElroy, S. L., Arnold, L. M., Shapira, N. a, Keck, P. E., Rosenthal, N. R., Karim, M. R., ... Hudson, J. I. (2003). Topiramate in the treatment of binge eating disorder associated with obesity: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *160*(2), 255–61. http://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.160.2.255
- McElroy, S. L., Guerdjikova, A. I., Mori, N., Munoz, M. R., & Keck, P. E. (2015). Overview of the treatment of binge eating disorder. *CNS Spectrums*, 20(6), 546–56. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852915000759
- McElroy, S. L., Guerdjikova, A. I., Mori, N., & O'Melia, A. M. (2012). Pharmacological management of binge eating disorder: Current and emerging treatment options. *Therapeutics and Clinical Risk Management*, 8, 219–241.
 http://doi.org/10.2147/TCRM.S25574
- McNeil, J., Cameron, J. D., Finlayson, G., Blundell, J. E., & Doucet, E. (2013). Greater overall olfactory performance, explicit wanting for high fat foods and lipid intake during the midluteal phase of the menstrual cycle. *Physiology and Behavior*, *112-113*, 84–89. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.02.008

- Meguid, M. M., Yang, Z. J., & Koseki, M. (1995). Eating induced rise in LHA-dopamine correlates with meal size in normal and bulbectomized rats. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 36(5), 487–490. http://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(95)92128-3
- Meule, A., & Gearhardt, A. N. (2014). Food addiction in the light of DSM-5. *Nutrients*, 6(9), 3653–3671. http://doi.org/10.3390/nu6093653
- Mogenson, G. J., & Stevenson, J. A. F. (1966). Drinking and self-stimulation with electrical stimulation of the lateral hypothalamus. *Physiology & Behavior*, 1(3-4), 251–IN9. http://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(66)90013-8
- Monteleone, P., Martiadis, V., Rigamonti, A. E., Fabrazzo, M., Giordani, C., Muller, E. E., &
 Maj, M. (2005). Investigation of peptide YY and ghrelin responses to a test meal in bulimia nervosa. *Biological Psychiatry*, *57*(8), 926–931.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.01.004
- Morgan, C. D. (1959). Fröhlich's Syndrome. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine*, (52)3, 180-181.
- Morganstern, I., Chang, G. Q., Karatayev, O., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2010). Increased orexin and melanin-concentrating hormone expression in the perifornical lateral hypothalamus of rats prone to overconsuming a fat-rich diet. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 96(4), 413–422. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2010.06.013
- Morganstern, I., Chang, G.-Q., Barson, J. R., Ye, Z., Karatayev, O., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2010).
 Differential effects of acute and chronic ethanol exposure on orexin expression in the perifornical lateral hypothalamus. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, *34*(5), 886–96. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01161.x

- Mukai, K., Kim, J., Nakajima, K., Oomura, Y., Wayner, M. J., & Sasaki, K. (2009).
 Electrophysiological effects of orexin/hypocretin on nucleus accumbens shell neurons in rats: An in vitro study. *Peptides*, 30(8), 1487–1496.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2009.04.018
- Munsch, S., Biedert, E., Meyer, A. H., Herpertz, S., & Beglinger, C. (2009). CCK, ghrelin, and PYY responses in individuals with binge eating disorder before and after a cognitive behavioral treatment (CBT). *Physiology and Behavior*, 97(1), 14–20. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2009.01.015
- Nambu, T., Sakurai, T., Mizukami, K., Hosoya, Y., Yanagisawa, M., & Goto, K. (1999).
 Distribution of orexin neurons in the adult rat brain. *Brain Research*, 827(1-2), 243–260.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(99)01336-0
- Noble, E. P. (2000). Addiction and its reward process through polymorphisms of the d- 2 dopamine receptor gene: a review [review]. *European Psychiatry*, *15*(2), 79–89. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-9338(00)00208-X
- Nobunaga, M., Obukuro, K., Kurauchi, Y., Hisatsune, A., Seki, T., Tsutsui, M., & Katsuki, H. (2014). High fat diet induces specific pathological changes in hypothalamic orexin neurons in mice. *Neurochemistry International*, 78, 61–66. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2014.09.002
- Olney, J. J., Navarro, M., & Thiele, T. E. (2015). Binge-Like Consumption of Ethanol and Other Salient Reinforcers is Blocked by Orexin-1 Receptor Inhibition and Leads to a Reduction of Hypothalamic Orexin Immunoreactivity. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 39(1), 21–29. http://doi.org/10.1111/acer.12591

- Pankevich, D. E., Teegarden, S. L., Hedin, A. D., Jensen, C. L., & Bale, T. L. (2010). Caloric Restriction Experience Reprograms Stress and Orexigenic Pathways and Promotes Binge Eating. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *30*(48), 16399–16407. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1955-10.2010
- Parsons, M. P., Belanger-Willoughby, N., Linehan, V., & Hirasawa, M. (2012). ATP-sensitive potassium channels mediate the thermosensory response of orexin neurons. *The Journal of Physiology*, 590(Pt 19), 4707–15. http://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2012.236497
- Pesce, L., van Veen, T., Carlier, I., van Noorden, M. S., van der Wee, N. J. A., van Hemert, A. M., & Giltay, E. J. (2015). Gender differences in outpatients with anxiety disorders: the Leiden Routine Outcome Monitoring Study. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences*, 1–10. http://doi.org/10.1017/S2045796015000414
- Piccoli, L., Micioni Di Bonaventura, M. V., Cifani, C., Costantini, V. J. A., Massagrande, M.,
 Montanari, D., ... Corsi, M. (2012). Role of Orexin-1 Receptor Mechanisms on Compulsive
 Food Consumption in a Model of Binge Eating in Female Rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, *37*(9), 1999–2011. http://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.48
- Plaza-Zabala, A., Martín-García, E., Lecea, L. De, Maldonado, R., & Berrendero, F. (2010). Hypocretins regulate the anxiogenic-like effects of nicotine and induce reinstatement of nicotine-seeking behavior. NIH Public Access. *Animal Research*, *30*(6), 2300–2310. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5724-09.2010.
- Qiu, J., Zhang, C., Borgquist, A., Nestor, C., Smith, A., Bosch, M., ... and Kelly, M. (2014). Insulin excites anorexigenic proopiomelanocortin neurons via activation of canonical

transient receptor potential channels. *Cell Metabolism*, *19*(4), 682-693. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.c.met.2014.03.004

- Qu, D., Ludwig, D. S., Gammeltoft, S., Piper, M., Pelleymounter, M. a, Cullen, M. J., ...
 Maratos-Flier, E. (1996). A role for melanin-concentrating hormone in the central regulation of feeding behaviour. *Nature*. http://doi.org/10.1038/380243a0
- Rada, P., Avena, N. M., Barson, J. R., Hoebel, B. G., & Leibowitz, S. F. (2012). A High-Fat Meal, or Intraperitoneal Administration of a Fat Emulsion, Increases Extracellular Dopamine in the Nucleus Accumbens. *Brain Sciences*, 2(4), 242–253. http://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci2020242
- Rada, P., Avena, N. M., & Hoebel, B. G. (2005). Daily bingeing on sugar repeatedly releases dopamine in the accumbens shell. *Neuroscience*, 134(3), 737–744. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.04.043
- Raevuori, A., Suokas, J., Haukka, J., Gissler, M., Linna, M., Grainger, M., & Suvisaari, J. (2014). Highly increased risk of type 2 diabetes in patients with binge eating disorder and bulimia nervosa. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*. http://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22334
- Randolph, T. G. (1956). The descriptive features of food addiction; addictive eating and drinking. *Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol, (17)*2, 198-224.
- Rao, Y., Lu, M., Ge, F., Marsh, D. J., Qian, S., Wang, A. H., ... Gao, X.-B. (2008). Regulation of synaptic efficacy in hypocretin/orexin-containing neurons by melanin concentrating hormone in the lateral hypothalamus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(37), 9101–10. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1766-08.2008

- Rorabaugh, J. M., Stratford, J. M., & Zahniser, N. R. (2014). A relationship between reduced nucleus accumbens shell and enhanced lateral hypothalamic orexin neuronal activation in long-term fructose bingeing behavior. *PLoS ONE*, 9(4). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0095019
- Roseberry, A. G., Liu, H., Jackson, A. C., Cai, X., & Friedman, J. M. (2004). Neuropeptide Ymediated inhibition of proopiomelanocortin neurons in the arcuate nucleus shows enhanced desensitization in ob/ob mice. *Neuron*, 41(5), 711–722. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00074-1
- Saito, Y., Cheng, M., Leslie, F. M., & Civelli, O. (2001). Expression of the melaninconcentrating hormone (MCH) receptor mRNA in the rat brain. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 435(1), 26–40. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11370009
- Sakurai, T., Amemiya, A., Ishii, M., Matsuzaki, I., Chemelli, R. M., Tanaka, H., ... Yanagisawa, M. (1998). Orexins and orexin receptors: A family of hypothalamic neuropeptides and G protein-coupled receptors that regulate feeding behavior. *Cell*, 92(4), 573–585. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80949-6
- Saper, C. B., Chou, T. C., & Elmquist, J. K. (2002). The Need to Feed. *Neuron*, *36*(2), 199–211. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00969-8
- Sapin, E., Bérod, A., Léger, L., Herman, P. A., Luppi, P. H., & Peyron, C. (2010). A very large number of GABAergic neurons are activated in the tuberal hypothalamus during paradoxical (REM) sleep hypersomnia. *PLoS ONE*, *5*(7).
 http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011766Sherwood, A., Holland, P. C., Adamantidis, A.,

& Johnson, A. W. (2015). Deletion of Melanin Concentrating Hormone Receptor-1 disrupts overeating in the presence of food cues. *Physiology & Behavior*, 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.05.037

- Shiiya, T., Nakazato, M., Mizuta, M., Date, Y., Mondal, M. S., Tanaka, M., ... Matsukura, S. (2002). Plasma ghrelin levels in lean and obese humans and the effect of glucose on ghrelin secretion. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 87(June), 240–244. http://doi.org/10.1210/jcem.87.1.8129
- Smith, D. G., Davis, R. J., Rorick-Kehn, L., Morin, M., Witkin, J. M., McKinzie, D. L., ... Gehlert, D. R. (2005). Melanin-Concentrating Hormone-1 Receptor Modulates Neuroendocrine, Behavioral, and Corticolimbic Neurochemical Stress Responses in Mice. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 1135–1145. http://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300913
- Smith, D. G., & Robbins, T. W. (2013). The neurobiological underpinnings of obesity and binge eating: A rationale for adopting the food addiction model. *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(9), 804–810. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2012.08.026
- Steinhausen, H. C., & Jensen, C. M. (2015). Time trends in lifetime incidence rates of first-time diagnosed anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa across 16 years in a danish nationwide psychiatric registry study. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 48(7), 845–850. http://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22402
- Stice E, Spoor S, Bohon C, and S. D. (2009). NIH Public Access. *Science*, *322*(5900), 449–452. http://doi.org/10.1126/science.1161550.Relation
- Stratford, T. R., & Kelley, A. E. (1999). Evidence of a functional relationship between the nucleus accumbens shell and lateral hypothalamus subserving the control of feeding

behavior. *The Journal of Neuroscience : The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, *19*(24), 11040–11048. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Citation &list_uids=10594084

- Striegel-Moore, R. H., Rosselli, F., Perrin, N., DeBar, L., Wilson, G. T., May, a, & Kraemer, H.
 C. (2009). Gender difference in the prevalence of eating disorder symptoms. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 42(5), 471–474. http://doi.org/10.1002/eat.20625.Gender
- Suzuki, M., Beuckmann, C., Shikata, K., Ogura, H. & Sawai, T. (2005). Orexin-A (hypocretin-1) is possibly involved in generation of anxiety-like behavior. *Brain Research*, 1044(1), 116-121. http://doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.03.002
- Tan, C. P., Sano, H., Iwaasa, H., Pan, J., Sailer, A. W., Hreniuk, D. L., ... Howard, A. D. (2002). Melanin-concentrating hormone receptor subtypes 1 and 2: species-specific gene expression. *Genomics*, 79(6), 785–792. http://doi.org/10.1006/geno.2002.6771
- Thorpe, A. J., & Kotz, C. M. (2005). Orexin A in the nucleus accumbens stimulates feeding and locomotor activity. *Brain Research*, 1050(1-2), 156–162. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2005.05.045
- Valdivia, S., Patrone, A., Reynaldo, M., & Perello, M. (2014). Acute high fat diet consumption activates the mesolimbic circuit and requires orexin signaling in a mouse model. *PLoS ONE*, 9(1). http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0087478
- Verret, L., Goutagny, R., Fort, P., Cagnon, L., Salvert, D., Léger, L., ... Luppi, P. (2003). Central Regulation of Paradoxical Sleep, 10, 1–10.

- Vickers, S. P., Hackett, D., Murray, F., Hutson, P. H. & Heal, D. J. (2013). Effect of lisdexamfetamine in a rat model of binge-eating disorder. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 23, S208–S209. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0924-977X(13)70321-3
- Wang, G. J., Volkow, N. D., Logan, J., Pappas, N. R., Wong, C. T., Zhu, W., ... Fowler, J. S. (2001). Brain dopamine and obesity. *Lancet*, 357(9253), 354–357.
 http://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03643-6
- Wang, L., Saint-Pierre, D. H., & Tache, Y. (2002). Peripheral ghrelin selectively increases Fos expression in neuropeptide Y - synthesizing neurons in mouse hypothalamic arcuate nucleus. *Neuroscience Letters*, 325(1), 47–51. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(02)00241-0
- Wilfley, D. E., Robinson Welch, R., Stein, R. I., Spurrell, E. B., Cohen, L. R., Saelens, B. E., ...
 Matt, G. E. (2002). A randomized comparison of group cognitive-behavioral therapy and group interpersonal psychotherapy for the treatment of overweight individuals with binge-eating disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *59*(8), 713–721.
 http://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.59.8.713
- Wilson, J. F., & Cantor, M. B. (1987). An animal model of excessive eating: schedule-induced hyperphagia in food-satiated rats. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 47(3), 335–46. http://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1987.47-335
- Winrow, C. J., Gotter, A. L., Cox, C. D., Doran, S. M., Tannenbaum, P. L., Breslin, M. J., ... Renger, J. J. (2011). Promotion of sleep by suvorexant-a novel dual orexin receptor

antagonist. *Journal of Neurogenetics*, 25(1-2), 52–61. http://doi.org/10.3109/01677063.2011.566953

- Winsky-Sommerer, R. (2004). Interaction between the Corticotropin-Releasing Factor System and Hypocretins (Orexins): A Novel Circuit Mediating Stress Response. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24(50), 11439–11448. http://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3459-04.2004
- Wojnicki, F. H. E., Babbs, R. K., & Corwin, R. L. W. (2013). Environments predicting intermittent shortening access reduce operant performance but not home cage binge size in rats. *Physiology and Behavior*, *116-117*, 35–43. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.03.015
- Yamanaka, A., Kunii, K., Nambu, T., Tsujino, N., Sakai, A., Matsuzaki, I., ... Sakurai, T.
 (2000). Orexin-induced food intake involves neuropeptide Y pathway. *Brain Research*, 859(2), 404–409. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-8993(00)02043-6
- Zhao, Z., Sakata, I., Okubo, Y., Koike, K., Kangawa, K., & Sakai, T. (2008). Gastric leptin, but not estrogen and somatostatin, contributes to the elevation of ghrelin mRNA expression level in fasted rats. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *196*(3), 529–538. http://doi.org/10.1677/JOE-07-0300